# IDENTIFYING INDIVIDUAL, PARTNER, HOUSEHOLD, AND NEIGHBORHOOD PREDICTORS OF INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE AMONG POOR ECUADORIAN AND COLOMBIAN REFUGEE WOMEN: A MULTI-LEVEL ANALYSIS

Sarah Treves-Kagan

A dissertation submitted to the faculty at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Health Behavior in the Gillings School of Global Public Health.

> Chapel Hill 2019

> > Approved by: Suzanne Maman Nisha Gottfredson Kathryn E. (Beth) Moracco Amber Peterman Andrés Villaveces

© 2019 Sarah Treves-Kagan ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

## ABSTRACT

Sarah Treves-Kagan: Identifying individual, partner, household, and neighborhood predictors of intimate partner violence among poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women: A multi-level analysis (Under the direction of Suzanne Maman)

Intimate partner violence (IPV) effects a third of South American women and results in significant health and social consequences. Previous research on IPV has relied heavily on cross-sectional data and focused almost exclusively on the characteristics of the woman, ignoring important contextual factors. South America has experienced mass migration due to the recently-ended internal conflict in Colombia, and current instability in Venezuela. The region has simultaneously undergone rapid shifts regarding women's rights. Using multilevel logistic regression on a longitudinal sample of 1312 poor Ecuadorian and Colombian women living in northern Ecuador, I explored predictors of recent emotional and physical and/or sexual IPV through two related theoretical lenses—social disorganization theory (aim 1) and feminist theory (aim 2). In the sample, 29.4% and 15.6% of women reported recent emotional and physical and/or sexual IPV, respectively. In the Aim 1 analysis, neighborhood social disorganization was marginally, positively associated with emotional IPV (AOR: 1.17, 95% CI: 0.99, 1.38) and trended in the same direction for physical and/or sexual IPV (AOR: 1.20, 95% CI: 0.96, 1.51). Mediation analysis suggest that higher social disorganization is associated with lower neighborhood-level civic engagement (AOR: 0.94, 95% CI: 0.91, 0.98) and higher neighborhood-level civic engagement is associated with lower odds of emotional IPV (AOR: 0.35, 95% CI: 0.13, 0.93). In the Aim 2 analysis, females' increasing participation in household decision-making between time 1 and time 2, at both the household and neighborhood-level, was negatively associated with emotional and physical and/or sexual IPV at time 2, respectively. Having lower education than their partner was a risk factor for IPV (emotional: AOR: 1.71, 95% CI: 1.22, 2.42; physical and/or sexual IPV: AOR: 1.57, 95% CI: 1.08, 2.28). Indicators of economic

empowerment were not associated with IPV outcomes in the expected direction. Results support investing in strategies to increase women's participation and achievement in higher education, and shifting gender norms to create more equitable households and neighborhoods. As South America, and other parts of the world, experience unprecedented mass migration, this research also underscores the importance of integrating IPV prevention and response programs into services in conflict-affected areas and host communities. Dedicated to the women in my family who experienced violence-sexual, intimate, political.

To Neko and Aida, may you live in a world in which you are always safe and free.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank the study participants for their time and for sharing their experiences with the study team. I would also like to acknowledge the World Food Programme in Quito and Rome's collaboration in undertaking the original study, and researchers at the International Food Policy Research Institute, and CEPAR for study implementation, and thank these institutions for making data available for analysis. Support for the original study including data collection was received from the Government of Spain, via the World Food Programme.

My academic and dissertation advisor, Dr. Suzanne Maman, provided me with invaluable support and mentorship throughout the entirety of my doctoral training. With your guidance, I have become a stronger researcher. Thank you for helping me achieve both my professional and personal goals! Thank you to Dr. Amber Peterman for going above and beyond to ensure my research was of the highest quality and meaningful to the field of violence prevention. To Dr. Nisha Gottfredson—the generosity you have shown me with your time, support, and thought partnership is so deeply meaningful to me. Thank you. Drs. Beth Moracco and Andrés Villaveces, thank you for sharing your expertise with me and ensuring that my research can translate into making a difference for women around the world. It was an enormous pleasure to work with you all and I sincerely hope we continue collaborating in the future.

I would not have been able to complete this work without the generous support provided by Royster Society of Fellows, and the Injury and Violence Prevention Fellowship awarded by the Injury Prevention Research Center at UNC Chapel Hill. I would also like to express my sincere appreciation for the support provided by the Jamie Kimble Foundation for Courage. Ron and Jan Kimble experienced a tragedy no family should face when they lost their daughter to domestic violence. Your work to honor Jamie is truly inspiring and it is a privilege to walk together in our work to create a world free from violence.

My cohort mates and peers in the Gender-Based Violence Working Group have been an

vi

enormous source of support throughout my doctoral training. Thank you for making the last four years so fun and interesting! A particular thank you to Laurie Graham—I'm looking forward to all of our future collaborations! I have also enjoyed working with faculty throughout UNC—Drs. Audrey Pettifor, Meghan Shanahan, Steve Marshall, Sandy Martin, and Rebecca Macy—it was a pleasure working with you. I hope we can continue collaborating in the future. Dr. Sheri Lippman has been an invaluable mentor to me throughout my research career; without you, I would not be on this path.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my family. Dad, thank you for instilling in me the value of intellectual curiosity, and for your conviction that I will do great things in the world. Mom, it is impossible to put into words how much I value our relationship. Thank you for everything that a daughter could be thankful for, a million times over. Safta, I cherish our relationship so much. I will spend my whole life trying to model your resilience, kindness, grace, warmth, charm, and intelligence. Avi, my determination to keep up with you has led to great things. Thanks for setting the bar so high. To my aunts, uncles, and cousins, you never let me take myself too seriously, a serious risk in this profession.

Gabe, thank you for your unwavering support. Even when I doubted I could do this, you never did. Since January 10, 2011, you have been a pillar in my life. Because of you, I am a better person and I thank you, truly. Neko and Aida, you are a constant source of joy in my life. It brings me the deepest sense of satisfaction knowing that work I do helps create a safer, more gender equitable world for you two.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES xii
LIST OF FIGURES xiii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xiv
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION
Problem statement1
Study purpose4
Study design and aims4
Study significance5
CHAPTER 2. BACKGROUND
Study context: Ecuador and Colombia7
Political instability7
Gender inequality and the status of women9
IPV in Ecuador and Colombia10
IPV in conflict settings and displaced communities11
IPV and the status of women13

CHAPTER 3. THEORY	18
Ecological framework of violence	
Social disorganization and social cohesion	20
Feminist theory	21
CHAPTER 4. STUDY AIMS, CONCEPTUAL MODELS, AND HYPOTHESES	24
Aim 1	24
Aim 2	26
CHAPTER 5. OVERVIEW OF DATA AND METHODS	28
Sample description	28
Data collection and ethics	30
Measures	30
Analysis	31
CHAPTER 6. SOCIAL DISORGANIZATION AND IPV IN CONFLICT-AFFECTED HOST COMMUNITIES (AIM 1)	
Background	35
Methods	37
Study setting	
Sample description	38
Data collection and ethics	38
Measures	39
Analysis	41

Results	42
Discussion	44
CHAPTER 7. WOMEN'S STATUS AND IPV: EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE FROM A LONGITUDINAL SAMPLE OF LOW-INCOME WOMEN IN NORTHERN ECUADOR (AIM 2)	49
Background	49
Methods	51
Study setting	52
Sample description	52
Data collection and ethics	53
Measures	53
Analysis	54
Results	55
Discussion	57
CHAPTER 8. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	62
Summary of limitations	63
Summary of strengths	64
Policy and Intervention Implications	65
Additional research	66
Intersectionality	66
In-depth analysis of experiences of migrant and refugee women	66
Refining community-level variables	

Pathways between neighborhood constructs and individual-level outcomes	67
Prioritizing prevention of adverse childhood exposures (ACEs)	68
Conclusions	69
APPENDIX A. TABLES	70
APPENDIX B. MAP OF TREATMENT AND CONTROL STUDY SITES	88
APPENDIX C. ATTRITION ANALYSIS	89
REFERENCES	91

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Description of Aim 1 key measures	70
Table 2: Description of Aim 2 key measures	72
Table 3: Aim 1 sample characteristics (at time 1) of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee   households in northern Ecuador	74
Table 4: Psychosocial stressors (at time 1) among a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian   refugee households in northern Ecuador	75
Table 5: Recent IPV among a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee households   in northern Ecuador	76
Table 6: Standardized results of social cohesion confirmatory factor analysis	77
Table 7: Pairwise correlation coefficients for social disorganization and social cohesion factors	79
Table 8: Aim 1 predictors (at time 1) of emotional intimate partner violence (at time 2) among   a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women	80
Table 9: Aim 1 predictors (at time 1) of physical and/or sexual intimate partner violence (at time 2) among a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women	82
Table 10: Aim 2 characteristics of a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women	84
Table 11: Aim 2 predictors of recent intimate partner violence in a sample of poor Ecuadorian   and refugee Colombian women	86

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Study sites, Carchi and Sucumbíos, Ecuador	7
Figure 2: Revised ecological framework of violence	19
Figure 3: Duluth power and control wheel	23
Figure 4: Aim 1 conceptual model	24
Figure 5: Aim 2 conceptual model	26
Figure 6: Study and sample design	29

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CEPAR	Centro de Estudios de Población y Desarrollo Social (Center for Population Studies and Social Development)
CFA	Confirmatory Factor Analysis
CFI	Comparative Fit Index (CFI)
DHS	Demographic Health Survey
EA	Enumeration Area
EFA	Exploratory Factor Analysis
ENDIREH	National Survey on the Dynamics of Household Relationships
FCS	Food Consumption Score
ICC	Intraclass Correlation
IDP	Internally Displaced Person
IFPRI	International Food Policy Research Institute
IOM	International Organization for Migration
IPV	Intimate Partner Violence
MLM	Multi-Level Modelling
NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
RMSEA	Root Mean Square Error of Approximation
SES	Socio-Economic Status
SRMR	Standardized Root Mean Square Residual
TLI	Tucker-Lewis Index
WFP	World Food Programme
WHO	World Health Organization
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
VAW	Violence Against Women

#### **CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION**

#### **Problem statement**

Intimate partner violence (IPV), or emotional, physical and sexual abuse by a current or former partner, is a significant problem in South America and worldwide [1]. Thirty-five percent of Ecuadorian women report experiencing physical IPV in their lifetime and 37.5% of Colombian women report experiencing physical and/or sexual IPV in their lifetime [2-4]. IPV increases a woman's likelihood of experiencing depression, suicidality, alcohol use, physical injuries, sexually transmitted diseases, and homicide [1, 2, 5]. Preventing IPV relies on identifying modifiable risk and protective factors, however, significant gaps remain in our understanding of these factors [6]. To help fill this gap, I identified individual, partner, household, and neighborhood factors that predict IPV among poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women in a multi-level analysis.

As outlined in the ecological framework of violence, women do not experience IPV in isolation of their familial, social, and neighborhood contexts [7, 8]. However, most research on IPV has focused on characteristics of the woman despite strong theoretical arguments to identify contextual factors—in women's partnerships, homes, and neighborhoods—that may influence IPV outcomes [8]. There is particularly limited research on neighborhood factors that predict IPV. Research has found strong associations between neighborhood factors and other health outcomes, such as mortality, depression, chronic diseases, and adverse child health outcomes [9]. A growing number of research studies, almost entirely conducted in the United States, has begun identifying neighborhood factors that influence IPV outcomes [10-15]. However, very little research conducted in South America or conflict-affected and host communities has focused on identifying neighborhood-level predictors of IPV [10, 14, 16]. As such, a critical gap remains in our knowledge regarding neighborhood factors that can be modified to reduce IPV in these settings.

Two recent systematic reviews of community and neighborhood-level correlates of IPV found a lack of research conducted in low and middle-income countries [10, 14]. Furthermore, the majority of research conducted has been cross-sectional and there is greater need to understand how factors at different levels (e.g. individual, household, neighborhood) interact to influence IPV [17]. In particular, these reviews found a need for additional research on the relationship between IPV and neighborhood social disorganization and cohesion, and community-level gender inequality [10, 14]. Given the decades-long conflict in Colombia and its spillage into neighboring countries, Venezuela's current humanitarian crisis, and the rapidly changing social status of women in South America, these are salient predictors of IPV to be explored among poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women.

Colombia experienced over fifty years of violent internal conflict between the government military, left-wing guerilla groups, and right-wing paramilitary groups. Exposure to violence and stressors was ubiquitous. The conflict, which began in the late 1940s and formally ended with a peace deal ratified in 2016, displaced over 7.6 million Colombians internally and abroad [18, 19]. The majority of refugees resettled in Ecuador—with an estimated 120,000 to 450,000 Colombians living in Ecuador [18, 20]. In Ecuador, many Colombians face severe psychosocial stressors, such as poverty, food and housing insecurity, violence, and discrimination [18, 21, 22]. Currently, Venezuela's social, economic, and political instability has resulted in the migration or displacement of over 3 million people. As of July 2018, 870,000 Venezuelans had migrated to Colombia; in Ecuador, there are on average 60,000 – 70,000 Venezuelans migrating through Ecuador per month, putting intense pressure on host communities [23].

Studies have found a high prevalence of IPV among women impacted by conflict and displacement but why this occurs is not well understood. Research in conflict-affected and host communities has found that social disruption, male partner's exposure to political violence, and impoverishment increased women's risk of IPV victimization [7, 24-27]. In addition, legal status, lack of resources, and language and cultural barriers restricted refugee and migrant women's ability to leave violent relationships [28]. Very little research has explored neighborhood-level risk and protective factors for IPV in this group.

Social disorganization theory provides a strong theoretical framework to explore neighborhood predictors of IPV in conflict-affected and host communities. Social disorganization theory suggests that a community's social control over violent behavior becomes compromised when communities are characterized by crime, lack of social cohesion, and lack of resources; conversely social resources and cohesion may enhance a community's ability to prevent IPV [13, 15-20]. Research has found that community disorganization, weak community sanctions, and social norms supportive of violence increases the risk of IPV [10-13, 29]. In contrast, social support can serve to reduce the risk of IPV [15, 30, 31]. Recent interventions targeting social cohesion suggest that this is a modifiable contextual factor worthy of additional attention [32, 33].

The status of women and gender equality also demands exploration as a contextual predictor of IPV. Women's rights have been undergoing rapid shifts in South America. For example, Colombia and Ecuador have substantially improved laws regarding IPV, and school attendance for boys and girls has almost equalized [34-37]. Despite these achievements, significant gender inequalities persist in South America. Colombian and Ecuadorian women are less likely to own homes, more likely to be unemployed or lack personal income, and more likely to live in poverty compared to men [38-40]. Furthermore, in addition to high rates of IPV and other forms of violence against women, legal accountability for perpetrators is low. For example, during the conflict in Colombia, there were reports of systematic use of sexual violence by all three types of Colombian armed actors (military, guerrilla, and paramilitary), and almost total impunity for perpetrators [34, 41].

Modifying the social status of women may help reduce IPV in South America [10, 42, 43]. Feminist theory highlights gender inequality, social status, and restricted rights of women as significant contributors to the high rates of violence experienced by women [29, 44, 45]. Previous research in South American settings found that a woman's share of the couple's wealth is significantly associated with lower odds of physical violence and that land-owning women are less likely to experience IPV compared to women who did not own land [42, 43]; however, research in other settings, with nationally-representative data, has found inconsistent results [46]. Joint decision-making in the household has also been associated with a lower risk of IPV in some (but not all) communities [47, 48]. Additional research is needed to expand our understanding of the relationship between individual IPV outcomes and the status

of women, specifically at the community-level. For example, little IPV research has explored the impact of a woman's status within her household versus the impact of women's status in the neighborhood at large, or how household and neighborhood status of women interact.

Finally, studies that examine neighborhood characteristics must account for neighborhood composition—or the clustering of individuals with similar individual-level risk and protective factors [9, 49]. An individual's exposure to psychosocial stressors, adversities and poverty could also increase conflict and violence in a relationship; similarly, gender equality within the household may also predict IPV. As such, we must establish the contextual (e.g. community-level) and compositional (e.g. individual-level) impacts of social disorganization and gender inequality on IPV.

## Study purpose

Most studies on contextual factors and IPV have been conducted in high-income countries, leaving much to be learned in the South American context. To my knowledge, none have been conducted with conflict-affected populations in any region. This study explicitly considers predictors of IPV that reflect the region's conflict and instability, and gender inequality. These are two socio-political factors that have deeply influenced women and communities in Ecuador and Colombia but have been underexplored in IPV literature. This study employs an ecological framework and two theoretical lenses that highlight social context—feminist theory and social disorganization theory—to explore modifiable risk and protective factors of IPV among a longitudinal sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian women [50, 51].

#### Study design and aims

To answer this research question, I conducted multi-level modelling using a clustered, panel dataset of 2,122 households from 80 neighborhoods, of which 1,312 households include a longitudinal sample of recently or currently partnered poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women. Data were collected in March – April 2011 and again in October – November 2011, approximately seven months apart. Study sites were located in seven urban centers in northern Ecuador. These areas border Colombia, are characterized by high poverty rates, and are home to a large concentration of Colombian refugees. The survey sample included households categorized as low socio-economic status (SES) that were not currently receiving government subsidies, and oversampled Colombian households.

My specific aims are:

Aim 1a: Examine the compositional and contextual effects of social disorganization factors on IPV among refugee and host-community women. Compositional hypotheses explore individual, partner, and household risk factors for recent IPV, including: female nationality, employment status, and social support; partner nationality and employment status; and household SES, mobility, civic engagement, and psychosocial stressors (e.g. adversity and discrimination). Contextual hypotheses explore neighborhood social disorganization (average household SES, residential instability, percent of female-headed households, percent of renters, and concentration of psychosocial stressors) as a predictor of IPV.

**Aim 1b**: Identify if neighborhood social cohesion partially mediates the relationship between neighborhood social disorder and individual-level IPV, after accounting for individual, partner, and household characteristics.

Aim 2a: Assess if recent IPV is predicted by women's status in the household and neighborhood. Aim 2b: Assess if neighborhood-level status of women moderates the relationship between household status and IPV.

## **Study significance**

This project identifies modifiable risk and protective factors to prevent IPV through two distinct but complementary theoretical frameworks. This will serve to inform programming and policy in a region heavily impacted by IPV, but with a limited research base related to the contextual predictors of IPV. Finding mechanisms to increase the social status of women and to decrease IPV remain critical international priorities for countries and organizations like the United Nations (UN), World Health Organization (WHO) and World Bank; this research will serve to inform that agenda. Furthermore, better understanding predictors of IPV among conflict-affected communities is critical and timely. Currently, there are over 68 million people forcibly displaced worldwide—the largest displacement of people on record [52]. This study serves to expand our understanding of how to prevent and respond to IPV among refugee and conflict-affected women.

#### **CHAPTER 2. BACKGROUND**

A global systematic review of research on intimate partner violence estimates that 30% of women aged 15 or over have experienced physical and/or sexual IPV in their lifetime [1]. IPV increases a woman's likelihood of experiencing depression, poor birth outcomes, abortion, alcohol use, physical injuries, sexually transmitted diseases, and homicide [1, 2]. For women in high-conflict areas or resource-constrained environments, these health risks may be exacerbated by lack of access to health care, exposure to other violence and stressors, poverty, and/or malnutrition [53]. Since the 1990s, the international health and development communities have recognized ending violence against women, including IPV, as a critical enabler to increasing the wellbeing of women and girls, economic stability, and human rights [54]. The success of reducing violence against women and achieving the millennium development goals regarding gender equity are deeply intertwined [55, 56]. Despite the fact that IPV is consistently underreported, research has been fundamental in documenting the expansive scope of IPV [57]. A growing evidence base on risk and protective factors for IPV in various settings has allowed for more effective prevention and response programming. The need for additional evidenced-based and promising interventions to reduce IPV compet the field to continue researching root causes of IPV [1, 58].

In this chapter, I provide an overview of existing research to support my study aims. Included is a short description of the study area, the estimated prevalence and consequences of IPV mostly in northern South America and among host-communities and conflict-affected, refugee, and displaced populations, and select risk and protective factors of IPV at the individual, partner, household, neighborhood, and societal level. Whenever possible, I highlight findings from South America and from research that has employed the same theoretical frameworks used in this study.

### Study context: Ecuador and Colombia

Ecuador and Colombia, located in northern South America, share borders with each other; Figure 1 highlights the study sites for this research project (also see Appendix A). Both are considered "megadiverse" countries, in terms of biodiversity, and have made significant improvements in terms of social and economic indicators over the last several decades [19, 59-61]. However, both



Figure 1: Study sites, Carchi and Sucumbios, Ecuador

countries are also characterized by income inequality, poverty, and political or social instability. Colombia's income inequality is ranked one of the world's worst [19]. One in three Colombians and one in four Ecuadorians live below the poverty line [19, 59].

#### Political instability

Colombia's economic, social, and political landscape has been significantly shaped by a decades-long internal conflict, which was characterized by extreme violence towards civilians. Throughout the conflict, exposure to violence and stressors was pervasive. Colombia had one of the highest homicide rates in South America in the 1990s and into the early 2000s; in 2011 (the year this study was conducted) the murder rate was 34.1 per 100,000 – the seventh highest in the region and more than five times the global homicide rate (6.2 per 100,000 people in 2012) [62, 63]. Human rights groups reported that all three armed actors—the government military, left-wing guerilla groups, and right-wing paramilitary groups—were responsible for extreme human rights violations, such as mutilation, murder, kidnapping, forced disappearances, humiliation, rape, forced prostitution, and trafficking [19, 34]. Data from public opinion polls collected in the early 2000s found that 31% of Colombians had been victims of a crime [62]. Women were especially vulnerable to sexual violence [34]. A review of clinical records in conflict-affected areas in southern Colombia found that almost 40% of patients lived alongside members of armed groups, 30% experienced economic hardship, more than 15% experienced physical or

psychological violence, and 15% experienced female abuse [41]. Survivors have had very little recourse—especially when crimes were committed by government forces as they also represent the institution meant to protect citizens' rights—and perpetrators have been held to almost no accountability [34, 64].

The conflict displaced over 7.6 million Colombians internally (i.e. internally displaced persons (IDP)) and abroad (i.e. refugees) [18, 19]. In this dissertation, I use the terms refugees and migrants in tandem, although the two have distinct definitions (IDPs are not explored in as much detail as the data was collected in Ecuador, not Colombia). Refugees are defined as an individual who resides outside their home country owing to fear of persecution based on race, religion, nationality, membership in a social group, or political opinion, and is not able to return to their home country. Refugees are recognized under international law as a vulnerable group with rights to asylum that should be afforded certain protections in other countries. Migrants are defined as individuals moving to return to their home country if they choose [65]. In the context of this study, I hypothesize that there is substantial overlap between the two groups (i.e. refugees and migrants), given the long-standing nature of the conflict in Colombia, the high rates of poverty and inequality, and the decreasing availability of visas from Ecuador. In addition, study participants' documentation status is unknown.

The majority of Colombian refugees resettled in Ecuador. Ecuador is home to the largest number of refugees in the region, 98% of whom are Colombian [59]. Ecuador has granted refugee status to 60,000 Colombians [18]. Over the course of the conflict, Ecuadorian public opinion regarding refugees soured and the percent of applications approved for asylum status declined dramatically—from 80-90% granted to less than 10% granted [66, 67]. Many more Colombians have migrated to Ecuador without legal asylum or refugee status—with estimates ranging from 120,000 to 450,000 Colombians living in Ecuador [20, 21]. In addition to spill over violence and influxes of Colombian refugees, Ecuador has also experienced its own significant political upheaval. While Ecuador has had civilian governance for over 40 years, Ecuadorians have had 20 different constitutions between 1974 and 2008 [59].

Once in Ecuador, many Colombian refugees face severe psychosocial stressors, such as poverty, food and housing insecurity, and discrimination [18, 66]. Qualitative research found that in addition to facing substantial violence in Colombia, Colombians faced violence from police, sexual harassment at work, and low quality or limited access to health care in Ecuador [22]. Journalistic research reports that refugees also feared continued violence from other Colombians in Ecuador, and therefore severely restricted their own social interactions with other Colombians [68].

While the conflict in Colombia has officially ended, the region is facing a new humanitarian crisis. Currently, Venezuela's social, economic and political instability has resulted in the migration or displacement of over 3 million Venezuelans in the last three years. As of July 2018, 870,000 Venezuela's had migrated to Colombia; in Ecuador, there are on average 60,000 – 70,000 Venezuelans migrating through Ecuador per month in transit to other locations [23]. The UN International Organization for Migration (IOM) reports extreme vulnerability among many displaced Venezuelans, including food insecurity, lack of access to education and medical care, poverty, exploitation, and fear of violence [69, 70]. International agencies, such as IOM and the UN Refugee Agency (UNCHR), are leading efforts to bolster host country capacities to support and resettle refugees during this humanitarian crisis [71].

#### Gender inequality and the status of women

The last few decades have also seen radical shifts in the status of women in the region, especially regarding laws criminalizing violence against women and improving girls' access to education. Until the 1990s, IPV was considered a private matter in South America (and elsewhere) and, because the scope of the problem was not well-documented, IPV was considered a rare occurrence [37]. Due to local and international activism, advances regarding gender equality were made in Ecuador and Colombia. Ecuador and Colombia both outlawed domestic violence in the mid-1990s; Ecuador also made changes to its judiciary structure to improve its adjudication of cases of IPV in the 1990s [36, 72]. In 2007, Ecuador created a plan for the eradication of violence against children, adolescents, and women, signifying that violence prevention was a national priority. Further, the Ecuadorian constitution specifically names in the *Rights of Liberty* the right to live free of violence in both public and private spheres and the government's obligation to put actions in place to prevent, eliminate, and sanction all forms of violence [37]. Colombia

similarly enacted the Gender Equality Law (Law 1257) in 2008 and created specific special counsels to prosecute high priority cases of sexual violence as a result of the internal conflict [34, 72].

Women in Ecuador and Colombia have also made significant gains in closing the education gap [35]. The World Bank, United Nations, and WHO have all recognized equal access to education as a critical enabler of gender equity for women, reducing poverty, and facilitating economic development in low and middle-income countries. Low educational achievement prevents access to quality employment, increases vulnerability to poverty, and acts as a barrier to social and political stability [73]. According to the World Bank, Ecuadorian girls are enrolled in and graduating from each level of education at the same or higher rates than their male counterparts, except amongst the lowest socio-economic groups. Here the ratio of female to male lower-secondary completion rate remains at 84%. Colombian women have also achieved improvements in education, with similar enrollment and completion rates for male and female children [40].

However, significant challenges remain in terms of gender equality. Women face high rates of poverty and unemployment in both Ecuador and Colombia. In Ecuador, the ratio of female to male labor force participation rate has stayed steady at 61.4% since 2000. Only 49% of women over the age of 15 participate in the workforce compared to 80% of men over the age of 15, and the unemployment rate is almost 60% higher among women than men [39]. In Colombia, women face similar economic, political, and social disadvantages. The ratio of female to male labor force participation rate rose from 65.1% in 2007 but still remains inequitable at 72.1% in 2016. The unemployment rate is over 75% higher among women compared to men [40]. Colombian women are also less likely to have any kind of personal income compared to men [74].

### **IPV in Ecuador and Colombia**

Despite criminalizing IPV, IPV remains a significant problem in the region. In Ecuador, a national survey found that 43.4% of women experienced psychological violence, 35% physical violence, and 14.5% sexual violence from a current or former partner in their lifetime [37]. In the last 12 months, 11.2%, 6.3%, and 2.5% of women experienced psychological, physical, and sexual violence, respectively. Of the women who had experienced IPV in the previous 12 months, 22.5% reported frequent physical violence

and over 27% of women reported frequent psychological and sexual violence [37]. The prevalence of lifetime IPV (including psychological, physical, sexual, and financial) varies by province in Ecuador—ranging from 36% to 63% [4]. Carchi and Sucumbíos (the study areas of this research project) reported prevalence lower than the national average (48.7%).

In the 2010 Demographic Health Survey (DHS) in Colombia, 37.5% of women age 15-49 reported physical or sexual IPV in their lifetime; 9.7% reported sexual violence from a partner in her lifetime [2]. Prevalence of IPV also varies by region in Colombia [2]. In addition to high rates of IPV in Colombia, there were reports of systematic use of sexual violence by all three types of Colombian armed forces and almost total impunity for perpetrators [34, 41]. For example, the 092 ruling of the Constitutional Court in 2008 set up a special counsel to prosecute high priority cases of sexual violence—of the 183 cases identified, only 11 resulted in sentences by 2013 [34].

IPV leads to significant health, social, and financial consequences. In Ecuador, over 75% of women who experienced IPV reported sadness and depression; 56.7% reported anxiety or fear; over 40% reported insomnia or changes in appetite; almost 40% reported bruising or swelling; 11.6% could not move part of their body; 11.5% suffered bleeding or hemorrhaging; and 6% had a miscarriage or premature birth [37]. Over a quarter of women reported no longer seeing their friends or family because of the abuse they faced at home [37]. In Colombia, 85% of women who experienced IPV reported physical or psychological injuries; 51% reported loss of self-esteem and feelings of worthlessness; 39% reported decreases in productivity; 30% reported that it impacted their relationship with their children; and 23% reported suicidal ideation. Less than 25% of women who experienced IPV sought medical services, and 23% reported not talking to anyone about their IPV victimization [2].

### IPV in conflict settings and displaced communities

While limited, empirical research has found a high prevalence of IPV in conflict settings, among displaced and refugee populations, and in receiving communities [17, 75]. For example, over 50% of women reported physical IPV and over 70% reported sexual IPV in two communities in Liberia [76]. Almost 70% and 35% of women in the Democratic Republic of Congo reported IPV and intimate partner sexual violence, respectively, in the 2007 DHS—twice the estimated global IPV prevalence [77, 78].

Community-based participatory research conducted in South Sudan found that almost 70% of participants knew at least one woman who experienced IPV in the last month [79]. A clinic-based survey found that over 40% of respondents had experienced IPV in the previous 12 months [80]. In Eastern Cameroon, almost 40% of host and refugee women reported recent sexual violence, with intimate partners being the most common perpetrator [81]. A study of couples living in refugee camps in Jordan, found that lifetime prevalence of IPV was 44.7% [82].

Research on this topic in South America has mostly been qualitative or clinic-based. One study using a nationally representative sample in Colombia found a higher prevalence of severe forms of IPV among displaced women compared to a rural, non-displaced comparison group [83]. A small study in Colombia found that participants from a community directly affected by the conflict were 12 times more likely to experience violence, most of which was perpetrated by someone in their family, compared to participants living in a community not directly affected by the conflict [84]. In a clinic-based study of refugees from El Salvador (n=71) living in the United States conducted in the late 1980s, 30% of women reported family violence [85]. Ethnographic research with a similar population found that, while exposure to conflict-related trauma was ubiquitous, most women eventually migrated from El Salvador to the United States because of domestic, not political, violence [86].

While a high prevalence of IPV has been documented in conflict settings and among displaced and host communities, there has been little research on how exposure to conflict influences IPV. Social isolation, lack of access to resources or safe work, and uncertain legal status are among some of the factors that can increase the vulnerability of women living in these areas [87-89]. Qualitative work in postconflict Uganda and among African refugees in Australia found that social disruption and impoverishment increased women's risk of IPV victimization [7, 24]. Wirtz's qualitative work with internally displaced Colombian women found that women attributed IPV to the violence their partners experienced in the conflict. Lost employment of their partners and economic insecurity due to displacement was also viewed as a cause of IPV [53]. She also documented patterns of "serial marriages" with abusive partners to support themselves and their children [53]. However, an analysis of 2005 DHS data from Colombia found that migration due to armed conflict was associated with decreases in physical IPV; the author theorizes that moving away from a violent community has a protective effect [90].

#### Social disorganization and social cohesion

Theory suggests that there are likely neighborhood level factors that influence IPV outcomes in settings that experience high levels of instability, poverty, and other psychosocial stressors. However, the impact of neighborhood or community factors on IPV in conflict-affected communities remains largely unexplored [91]. Social disorganization theory, described in detail in subsequent chapters, provides a fitting theoretical framework to identify neighborhood factors that may influence IPV outcomes in these settings. The majority of social disorganization research has been conducted in the United States, but has found consistent relationships between social disorganization and IPV outcomes [14, 92]. Studies have found that individuals living in communities with higher community disadvantage, high unemployment, low average incomes, low collective efficacy or social cohesion, and high legal cynicism were at higher risk of IPV [10-12, 30, 31, 93-95].

Although social disorganization theory specifically identifies social cohesion as a mediator between social disorganization and delinquency outcomes, there is a dearth of studies examining social process indicators, such as social cohesion [14]. Research has found that social cohesion may reduce a woman's vulnerability to IPV [15, 30, 31]. One study found that neighborhood collective efficacy was negatively associated with IPV in communities with a minimum level of women's share of neighborhood resources [96]. Importantly, interventions have been successful at increasing a community's solidarity, reciprocity and social cohesion, suggesting that this is a modifiable protective factor [32, 33, 50]. Further, the international community has focused extensively on promoting social cohesion to support the mental and physical health of refugees, displaced people and migrants, ensure social stability in host communities, and generate public support for social protection programs [33, 97, 98]. This suggests that social cohesion programming could be adopted for IPV prevention purposes as well.

## IPV and the status of women

#### Social status of women and IPV

Education can increase access to safe employment opportunities, allowing for more financial independence and less economic dependence on men, although this assumes that schools are safe and of high quality [17, 99]. Empirical evidence testing this theory is inconsistent [17, 99]. For example, a

systematic review of studies exploring the relationship between indicators of empowerment, including educational attainment, and recent IPV found that 11 of 20 studies found education to be protective, two found education as a risk factor for IPV, and seven did not find an association [100]. Similarly, studies looking at the differences in educational achievement between male and female partners have also found mixed and sometimes contradictory results [47, 48, 100-103]. Inconsistencies between settings may be due to a community-level moderator; for example, the relationship between education and IPV may be different depending on the educational norms for women in the community. Examining the average educational attainment within the neighborhood can provide an important proxy measure for the general status of women within the neighborhood. While most studies have focused on individual or partner-level education status as a predictor of IPV, a bivariate analysis of 88 surveys conducted across the world found that aggregate-level educational achievement for women was negatively associated with mean prevalence of IPV [29]. An analysis of DHS data from 10 countries found that women who did not experience IPV were more likely to live in communities with a higher percent of educated women compared to those who did experience IPV [47]. Another study of over 80,000 married women aged 15-49 in India found that, after accounting for female and male education at the individual and partner-level, the likelihood of experiencing IPV declined as community-level male and female literacy increased [104].

Feminist theory suggests that one of the most proximal household predictors of IPV is the status of the woman, often measured by assessing how household decision-making is shared between male and female partners. Research on household decision-making and IPV outcomes has also resulted in inconclusive findings. In Mexico, female decision-making over employment was associated with decreased odds of experiencing IPV for most age groups but found the opposite relationship for female decision-making on reproductive health [102]. In Peru, IPV was lowest amongst those who reported joint decision-making compared to either female- or male-dominated decision-making [48]; research in Colombia found similar findings [90]. Research in Haiti found that female-dominated decision-making for large household purchases was associated with an increased risk of IPV [105]. In an analysis of ten DHS surveys, joint decision-making about women's own health care and making large household purchases was generally associated with lower IPV in about half of countries, including Haiti and Bolivia, whereas, female-dominated decision-making was associated with higher reports of violence in most countries [47].

A large age difference between male and female partners, specifically with older men and younger women, is also theorized to exacerbate power differentials within a relationship and increase the woman's vulnerability to IPV [106]. While research suggests that age differentials increase the risk of condomless sex and other sexual health outcomes [107, 108], there have been mixed findings regarding age differentials of partners and the relationship to IPV. In qualitative research conducted in Colombia, female survivors of IPV perceived that large age differences between partners contributed to IPV [53]. However, the WHO multi-country IPV study found weak and inconsistent associations across study sites between partner age difference and IPV outcomes [101]. Hindin examined 10 countries' DHS data and found that women with husbands older by five or more years in Zambia were actually at lower risk of lifetime IPV compared to women closer in age or older than their partners; associations for the other countries were not significant [47]. Mexico's national survey on domestic violence (ENDIREH) also found that an age difference of five or more years was actually protective against recent IPV for women age 15-21; there was no relationship between age difference and IPV outcomes for the other age groups [102].

#### Economic status of women and IPV

While IPV occurs in all strata of SES, poverty can make women more vulnerable to IPV by increasing dependence on men and reducing their resources to leave or avoid abusive relationships [53]. Economic empowerment has been a key pillar of gender equality and violence prevention work. Women's participation in the labor force is seen as a significant indicator of gender equality—working should increase a woman's economic independence and prevent her from being isolated and without social resources to avoid or leave violent relationships [96]. At the relational level, research suggests that one of the most proximal predictors of incidents of violence is stress and partner conflict [109]. Poverty is inherently stressful and qualitative data from this study area found that reducing conflict over how to spend resources and generally improving the family's quality of life led to fewer violent interactions between partners [110].

Research in low and middle-income countries on the relationship between SES and IPV has resulted in mixed findings and may be modified by community-level factors, such as acceptance of IPV and women's workforce engagement [17, 96]. Hindin's review of DHS data from ten countries found the

expected association between household wealth and IPV outcomes in 8 of the 10 countries; however, the relationship between female employment and IPV was either non-existent or in the opposite direction than expected [47]. Bott's review of 12 Latin American and Caribbean DHS data found that in half of the countries, wealth and IPV were highly correlated but not in the other half [111]. For recent IPV, employment was a risk factor in half the countries, protective in two countries and there was no association in four countries. Similarly, Castro's analysis of the National Survey on the Dynamics of Household Relationships (ENDIREH) from Mexico found inconsistent results when exploring SES, employment and IPV [102]. An analysis of the 2005 Colombia DHS found that current workforce participation was associated with increases in emotional and physical IPV [90].

While results from these studies are inconsistent, which could be due to the reliance on correlational analysis, intervening upon SES through micro-finance and cash transfer projects seems to be a promising mechanism to increase women's economic empowerment and decrease IPV. For example, the parent study of this project was a community randomized control trial of a Cash, Food Vouchers, and Food Transfer intervention conducted in northern Ecuador. The project targeted women to receive the transfers and resulted in improved food consumption and decreased IPV [50, 51]. A systematic review of cash transfer projects (which included the aforementioned parent study), found that eleven of fourteen studies reduced IPV; two studies found no association and one found mixed results [112]. All but one of these studies targeted women, representing a boost to their income specifically. The IMAGE study in South Africa, which combined microfinance and community mobilization activities, also saw significant decreases in IPV in intervention communities compared to control communities [113].

Previous research found that in Ecuador, a women's share of the couple's wealth is significantly associated with lower odds of physical violence [42]; similarly, land-owning women in rural Nicaragua were less likely to experience IPV compared to women who did not own land [43]. However, a study of 28 different countries found inconclusive results on the relationship between individual asset ownership and IPV, with most countries showing no association [46]. Three countries from Latin America and the Caribbean were included—Honduras, the Dominican Republic and Haiti. Shared asset ownership was negatively associated with IPV in Honduras and sole asset ownership was negatively associated with IPV.

In her research on neighborhood predictors of IPV, Jackson theorizes that female economic status in the neighborhood serves as an important indicator of gender equity and an important mechanism in elevating the issue of ending IPV within a community [96]. Jackson found that higher women's relative neighborhood resources was associated with a lower risk of IPV but only in neighborhoods that also had at least an average level of collective efficacy to intervene on a problem to help the community [96]. Heise found that a higher percent of women engaged in the workforce was associated with lower mean IPV prevalence in a bivariate analysis (e.g. an ecological analysis) [29]. Country-level women's workforce participation also moderated the relationship between individual level risk and protective factors (e.g. working for cash) and IPV outcomes [29]. Exploring community women's economic status as a moderator could also explain the inconsistency in the relationships between female employment, SES, and asset-ownership and IPV outcomes.

#### **CHAPTER 3. THEORY**

#### Ecological framework of violence

In the late 1990s, Lori Heise adopted an ecological approach to examine the etiology of IPV [8]. Heise proposes that examining partner, household, and neighborhood characteristics will explain more variance in IPV outcomes than looking at individual characteristics of the women alone. Violent behavior is catalyzed, facilitated, and endorsed (or not) through multiple mechanisms, at multiple levels. The social ecology model highlights two fundamentally important issues. First, the model highlights that there is no singular cause of violence but that violence is the product of multiple factors and those must be explored and understood holistically. Second, violence is *preventable*—modifying risk factors, even if others remain, can reduce the likelihood of violence

Social ecology models, which date back to the 1950s, have evolved over the last several decades and have been increasingly popular in public health research [114, 115]. Heise's original model was based on Belsky's framework for researching child abuse and identified four levels of influence—1) ontogenetic; 2) microsystem; 3) exosystem; and 4) macrosystem [116]. Heise then updated this model in 2011 after re-reviewing the existing empirical literature base on risk and protective factors of IPV [17]. In the revised ecological framework of violence, Heise identifies seven levels of influence: 1) macrosocial; 2) community; 3) male partner; 4) relationship; 5) conflict arena; 6) IPV; and 7) the woman. Figure 2 maps on identified risk and protective factors in each level that correspond to this research study. Heise advocates for taking an integrated approach when adopting a social ecology model. Individual, household, and neighborhood risk and protective factors do not act in isolation but influence each other across levels [8]. Most research to date has ignored the potential interaction between exposures at multiple levels [17, 117, 118]. These interactions are paramount in effectively planning and targeting interventions. Understanding these interactions also helps address non-modifiable risk factors. A holistic approach allows us to answer the question—can modifying another factor—either within the home or neighborhood—reduce the strength of the association between a non-modifiable factor and IPV outcomes.



\*context specific

Figure 2: Revised ecological framework of violence

### Social disorganization and social cohesion

Social disorganization is a pertinent theory to explore IPV among poor Ecuadorians and Colombian refugees in northern Ecuador because these communities have undergone extensive social disruption and experienced significant adversities. Originally conceptualized by Shaw and McKay [119, 120], and then tested by Sampson and Groves [121], social disorganization theory posits that neighborhood or community characteristics can either enable or hamper crime and delinquency. This was a significant departure from traditional emphasis on individual characteristics, instead highlighting the influence of neighborhood factors on individual outcomes and behaviors. The theory hypothesizes that social disorder—traditionally defined as concentrated disadvantage (e.g. poverty), residential instability, and immigrant concentration—can weaken social bonds between neighbors. Social disorganization then limits collective community action and deteriorates the community's informal social mechanisms to control violent behavior [10, 12, 15, 29, 121-124]. Drawing from literature on conflicted-affected communities, I also incorporated neighborhood-concentration of psychosocial stressors as an important neighborhoodlevel factor that can influence social bonds [125].

Social cohesion—or the level of trust and reliance between community members—acts as a mediator between neighborhood disorder and the likelihood of collaboration to address neighborhood challenges [10, 12]. Social cohesion can foster the exchange of resources and information, build social capital, and result in developing collective efficacy, or the belief a group can work together to achieve shared goals [126, 127]. This social process can serve to improve health outcomes; alternatively, neighborhoods and their corresponding social dynamics can foster negative outcomes, such as health inequalities, delinquency or crime [126, 128].

Attributed to Durkheim's work on suicide, social integration and social ties, various definitions of social cohesion have been used in the fields of sociology, psychology, public health and others. Despite these variations in definitions, social cohesion is understood to 1) refer to some group or network of people; 2) be a dynamic process; 3) recognize that a group is more than a sum of its parts and acknowledge the ties or relationships of individuals within a group; and 4) directly influence how individuals in the group work together through some kind of social control, pressure to conform, or feeling

of obligation to help others [129]. I adopt Aiyer et al's definition, used in their community empowerment research, Busy Streets: "Social cohesion [is the] presence of strong social bonds among neighborhood residents; [it] represents interpersonal connectedness, sense of community, mutual moral support, and the sharing of resources" [130].

In the context of IPV, scholars theorize that when living in a community with weak social bonds and low social cohesion, neighbors may not know when IPV is occurring or may not feel an obligation to intervene when it is occurring [10, 12, 131]. Living in a violent environment could also normalize violence in the household [16]. In communities with high levels of distrust in other neighbors or in institutions, women may be less likely to reach out for help or access police or social services [131]. Abusive partners also use social isolation as a form of abuse, making it difficult for women to leave such relationships [132].

## Feminist theory

Feminist theories concerning patriarchy, power, and control provide another framework to understand the etiology of IPV. At their root, feminist theories and literature frame power and control as the driving mechanism behind IPV. Within a relationship, an individual uses IPV as a tool to maintain power and control over another. Societally, the high prevalence of IPV similarly serves to maintain men's higher social standing above women. The latter framework focuses on violence as a social phenomenon as opposed to only the result of an individual-level deficiency or delinquency [45].

At the societal level, feminist theories attribute hegemonic patriarchy as the root cause of violence against women (VAW), including IPV [45]. Hegemony is leadership or dominance of one social group over others, enacted through social norms, allocation of resources, and access to power. Hegemonic systems punish deviations from the 'norm' to uphold hierarchical social structures [133]. Patriarchy acts as a form of hegemony in which maleness is the norm and, in turn, femaleness is "less than" or inferior [134, 135]. Hegemonic patriarchy manifests itself as the systematic devaluation of women operationalized through "societal and institutional conditions, norms and rules that perpetually disenfranchise women and are intrinsically linked to issues of power and control" [135]. Violence towards women, given their inferior status, is then 'allowable' or justified within this framework. Furthermore, violence against women acts as

a mechanism to reinforce the existing unequal power distribution between genders. Violence as a tool of social control is not unique to patriarchy but is used to maintain all systems of oppression including race, class, sexual identity, etc. [136]. These systems interact and violence victimization and reduced social status of women is exacerbated by other axes of power and hierarchy [137, 138].

Viewing violence through the lens of patriarchy "keeps the gaze directed toward social contexts rather than toward individual[s]" [45] and encourages researchers to identify structural mechanisms that can be modified to both challenge and interrupt hegemonic patriarchies as a pathway to reducing IPV. Through this lens, the field of IPV has identified women's access to economic resources and education as critical pathways (among others) to reducing VAW. Indeed, unequal social standing not only drives VAW, but reduces women's access to education, wealth, decision-making, resources, and political power. These are direct pathways to economic and social independence for women. Unequal access to education, resources, and power further exacerbates women's vulnerability to violence. Relegating women to under-education, lower wages and unpaid work, and marginalized political power increases their dependence on men, creating more vulnerability to violence. Further, these dynamics push women into unsafe working environments, housing insecurity, and risky sexual partnerships, which are also significant risk factors for experiencing violence.

Societal gender power differentials replicate and manifest themselves within partnerships and households. One of the most widely used frameworks for IPV, focusing on male-perpetrated behaviors within intimate relationships, is Duluth's Power and Control Wheel [132, 139]. This model (see Figure 3) has power and control at the heart of the wheel; physical and sexual violence on the outer edge of the wheel; and eight mechanisms, or spokes, radiating from power and control to IPV including using coercion and threats, male privilege, economic abuse, intimidation, isolation, and emotional abuse. Within relationships, women are often at a disadvantage along lines of power other than gender—such as age, education, and wealth. This can further reduce women's power within a relationship and increase the susceptibility to violence as well as make it more difficult to leave violent relationships. As such, I explore factors related to the social status of women at multiple levels.


Figure 3: Duluth power and control

# CHAPTER 4. STUDY AIMS, CONCEPTUAL MODELS, AND HYPOTHESES

In this chapter, I document my conceptual models, study aims, and hypotheses.

Aim 1

The conceptual model below (Figure 4) illustrates the relationship between neighborhood social disorganization and IPV, mediated by neighborhood social cohesion. The model also includes compositional factors that may account for variation in IPV.



Figure 4: Aim 1 conceptual model

**Aim 1a**: Examine the compositional and contextual effects of social disorganization factors on IPV among refugee and host-community women. Compositional hypotheses explore individual, partner, and household risk factors for recent IPV, including: female nationality, employment status, and social support; partner nationality and employment status; and household SES, mobility, civic engagement, and psychosocial stressors (e.g. adversity and discrimination). Contextual hypotheses explore neighborhood social disorganization (average household SES, residential instability, percent of female-headed households, percent of renters, and concentration of psychosocial stressors) as a predictor of IPV.

<u>Compositional hypotheses – Household exposure to discrimination, psychosocial stressors, and</u> <u>support (H1)</u>: Higher household SES, labor force participation, civic engagement, and social support will be negatively associated with IPV while lower SES, and experiencing discrimination and psychosocial stressors will be positively associated with IPV.

<u>Contextual hypothesis - Social disorganization (H2)</u>: After accounting for individual, partner, and household characteristics, neighborhood social disorganization will explain variation in IPV outcomes.

**Aim 1b**: Identify if neighborhood social cohesion partially mediates the relationship between neighborhood social disorder and individual-level IPV, after accounting for individual, partner, and household characteristics.

<u>Mediation hypothesis - Social cohesion (H3)</u>: Neighborhood social cohesion will be negatively associated with odds of experiencing IPV and will partially mediate the positive association between social disorganization and IPV outcomes, after accounting for individual, partner, and household characteristics.

# Aim 2

Aim 2 approaches the quesiton of contextual predictors of IPV through feminist theory. My conceptual model (see Figure 5) illustrates the proposed relationship between indicators of the status of women and IPV at multiple levels, including how neighborhood factors moderate the relationship between specific household factors and IPV.



Figure 5: Aim 2 conceptual model

Aim 2a: Assess if recent IPV is predicted by women's status in the household and neighborhood.

<u>Household hypotheses (H4):</u> Lower household status of the woman (primary education or less; not participating in the labor force; lower percent of assets value owned by the woman in the household; lower female age relative to male age; lower female education relative to male education; lower female salary relative to partner; and lower percent of domains of decision-making the woman contributes to in the household;) will be associated with increased odds of IPV.

<u>Neighborhood level hypotheses (H5):</u> Lower status of women in the neighborhood (lower percent of women with secondary education or higher in the neighborhood; lower average percent of household goods owned by women in the neighborhood; lower percent of women engaged in the labor force; lower percent of women earning the same or more than their partner; and lower neighborhood average of female-involved household decision-making) will be associated with increased odds of IPV.

Aim 2b: Assess if neighborhood-level status of women moderates the relationship between household status and IPV.

<u>Moderation by neighborhood status of women hypothesis - Education (H6)</u>: For women that live in neighborhoods with a higher percent of women with secondary education or higher than the average neighborhood, the association between educational differential and IPV victimization will be weakened.

<u>Moderation by neighborhood status of women hypothesis – Economic (H7)</u>: For women that live in neighborhoods where women own a higher percentage of assets than average, the association between female percent of household asset ownership and IPV victimization at the household level will be weakened.

<u>Moderation by neighborhood status of women hypothesis – Labor Force Participation (H8)</u>: For women that live in neighborhoods with a higher percent of women participating in the labor force than the average neighborhood, the negative association between female labor force participation and IPV victimization will be strengthened.

## **CHAPTER 5. OVERVIEW OF DATA AND METHODS**

This study draws on data from a cluster randomized controlled trial of a World Food Programme's (WFP) Cash, Food Vouchers, and Food Transfer intervention conducted by the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) in northern Ecuador in 2011 [50, 51]. The project improved food consumption, decreased IPV, and increased social cohesion [50, 51, 140]. Standardized in-person surveys were administered to 2,357 households at time 1; 2,122 households were available for follow up approximately seven months later, after approximately six months exposure to the intervention. Approximately 1,312 women were partnered at both time points and in the correct age range (15 or above), and were either the spouse of the head of household, or head of the household. Households were clustered in 80 barrios, or administrative neighborhood units as defined by the government.

WFP's research project was conducted in two provinces near the Colombian border. Carchi and Sucumbios provinces were selected because of the high concentration of poor Ecuadorians and Colombian refugees living there. Carchi and Sucumbios represent differing geographic, cultural, and socio-economic contexts, with Carchi in the northern highlands and Sucumbios in the Amazonian lowlands. Urban centers within these areas were then selected if more than 10% of the urban population were refugees; the poverty index exceeded 50 percent; and there was the presence of implementing NGOs and financial institutions. Seven urban centers in total were included in the study. Within those cities, neighborhoods were then selected for inclusion based on including a large percentage of Colombian refugees and low-income households.

# Sample description

As documented in Figure 6, the sample includes 148 clusters, or enumeration areas (EA), grouped in 80 neighborhoods. In each cluster, households were mapped and administered a one-page questionnaire regarding basic demographic and socio-economic questions, before randomization. Randomization was stratified at the province level as the socioeconomic and geographic characteristics

differ substantially between the two provinces. Clusters were first randomized to treatment or control; in each cluster, 20-27 households were randomly selected to be interviewed in the initial survey. Additional information on the intervention and randomization can be found in previous publications [50, 51]. Colombian and Colombian-Ecuadorian households were oversampled to ensure a sufficient sample for comparative analysis. Households were eligible for inclusion if they were classified as low SES and not currently receiving the Human Development Grant (BDH), which is the Government of Ecuador's national cash transfer program [50].



Figure 6: Study and sample design

## Data collection and ethics

Data were collected in March and April 2011 and approximately seven months later (October-November 2011). Paper surveys were administered by trained field staff. Verbal consent was collected. Field staff were trained in accordance with the WHO ethical guidelines for conducting research on IPV including modules on ethical recruitment, consent, and data collection procedures; ensuring participant confidentiality, safety, and privacy; and managing data to maintain confidentiality. Specific procedures were followed during data collection to ensure the safety of the participant. For example, field staff only asked IPV questions if there were no other family members, including her partner, present. In addition, anonymized referral information was offered to the woman after completing the IPV module, regardless of whether the women had disclosed IPV or not. IRB approval was obtained from IFPRI and in-country data collection partner Centro de Estudios de Población y Desarrollo Social (CEPAR). Secondary data analysis was approved by the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.

#### Measures

Measures are described in depth in Tables 1 (Aim 1) and 2 (Aim 2). The outcome variable for both aims assesses emotional, physical, and sexual IPV in the last six months (at time 2) using the WHO Violence Against Women Instrument [141, 142]. Aim 1 exposure variables reflect social disorganization theory indicators measured at time 1. Aim 2 exposure variables reflect the status of women at the individual, household and neighborhood level. For this aim, time 1 variables and change variables (time 2 – time 1) were included (described in more detail below.) For both aims, neighborhood level variables were aggregated from household responses from the entire sample (n=2,357) to better represent the social context of our smaller sample of partnered women. These variables were also weighted to account for the over-representation of Colombian households in our sample.

Key household-level independent variables were centered within the neighborhood. Neighborhood level independent variables were grand-mean centered (i.e. centered around the entire sample's mean). Centering allows us to parse out within-neighborhood variance and betweenneighborhood variance, therefore allowing us to understand the compositional and contextual affects, respectively, of these variables on IPV outcomes [143].

## Analysis

For both aims, I first assessed the pattern of missing data; 3.6% and 2.1% of women were missing data for IPV at time 1 and time 2, respectively. To avoid biases caused by using complete case analysis (i.e. list-wise deletion that is used in maximum likelihood models), I conducted multiple imputation. The process creates several datasets, using correlations between variables to estimate the most likely predicted values for missing data and adds random errors around the most likely imputed data points. Final estimated parameters are based on the averages across all imputed datasets [144, 145]. Joint multilevel multiple imputation was conducted in MPLUS to account for categorical variables, and for the hierarchical nature of the data set [146].

For Aim 1, I conducted exploratory factor analysis (EFA) and confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) to generate my social disorganization and social cohesion factors. Both EFA and CFA analyses accounted for categorical response distributions and the clustered structure of the dataset. For social disorganization, I used a maximum likelihood estimator with standard errors robust to non-normality and non-independence of observations. For social cohesion, I used a weighted least square parameter estimator; this uses a diagonal weight matrix with standard errors [147]. EFA was conducted on half of the sample and results were evaluated by conducting a likelihood ratio test of model fit, examining eigenvalues, and considering root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), Comparative Fit Index (CFI), and Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI) estimates. Items with poor factor loadings (<0.3) were removed and inter-factor correlations were assessed [148]. CFA was then conducted on the second half of the sample to confirm those domains. As some male heads of households and some female heads of household answered these questions, and perceptions of social cohesion may vary by gender, respondent gender was included as a control variable in the factor analysis. Specifically, item means were permitted to vary by gender in addition to factor means [149]. Model fit was evaluated using standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), RMSEA, TLI and CFI. I then output factor score estimates for each household. From this process, household scores were created and then aggregated into neighborhood-level scores. Neighborhood scores were then standardized to improve interpretability of regression coefficients in subsequent analyses.

I then conducted multi-level logistic regression to examine the variance in IPV outcomes attributable to individual, partner household and neighborhood-level characteristics. Multi-level models account for heterogeneity between neighborhoods and take advantage of natural clustering of population groups to explain variation in the outcome of interest [150]. All models controlled for demographic variables (province, gender of head of household, female age and nationality, and male labor force participation), intervention status (pooled treatment), and IPV at time 1. For all models, maximum likelihood parameter estimates were computed with standard errors robust to non-normality and non-independence of observations in MLPUS. In this process, standard errors are computed using a sandwich estimator [147]. Random intercepts were included in the models to account for unexplained neighborhood clustering related to IPV.

For Aim 1, I assessed the association between social disorganization, social cohesion and IPV outcomes with several models (see Equations 1 and 2). In Equation 1, I included the combined social disorganization score and a combined social cohesion score.

Two domains—concentration of psychosocial stressors and neighborhood level social support—were included separately as this did not map onto the larger domains of social disorganization and social cohesion, respectively, during the EFA and CFA process.

## Equation 1

# Level 1:

 $IPV_{T2ij} = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j}Psychosocial Stressors_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{2j}Discrimination_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{3j}Civic Engagement_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{4j}SocialSupport_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{5j}SES_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{6j}Moved to Neighborhood_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{7j}Control Variables + r_{ij}$ 

# Level 2:

 $\begin{aligned} \beta_{0j} = &\gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}SD_{T1, GMC} + \gamma_{02}PsychosocialStressors_{T1, GMC} + \gamma_{03}SC_{T1, GMC} + \gamma_{04}SocialSupport_{T1, GMC} + \mu_{0j} \\ r_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma^2) \\ \mu_{j} \sim N(0, \tau^2) \end{aligned}$ 

Notes: T1: Time 1; T2: Time 2; CWG: Centered within Group (i.e. neighborhood-mean centered) GMC: Grand Mean Centered

In Equation 2, I included all individual social disorganization and cohesion domains.

#### Equation 2

Level 1:

 $IPV_{T2ij} = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j}Psychosocial Stressors_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{2j}Discrimination_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{3j}Civic Engagement_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{4j}SocialSupport_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{5j}SES_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{6j}Moved to Neighborhood_{T1,CWG} + \beta_{7j}Control Variables_{T1} + r_{ij}$ 

### Level 2:

 $\begin{array}{l} \beta_{0j}=\!\!\gamma_{00}+\gamma_{01}Residential \ Instability_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{01}\% \ Renters_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{01}\% \ Female \ Headed \ Households_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{01}Average \ Community \ Wealth_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{02}Psychosocial \ Stressors_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{02}Trust \ in \ Individuals_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{02}Psychosocial \ Stressors_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{02}Trust \ in \ Individuals_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{02}Psychosocial \ Stressors_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{02}Social \ Support_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{04}Social \ Support_{T1,\ GMC}+\gamma_{04}Social$ 

 $r_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$ 

 $\mu_j \sim N(0, \tau^2)$ 

Notes: T1: Time 1; T2: Time 2; CWG: Centered within Group (i.e. neighborhood-mean centered) GMC: Grand Mean Centered

I then conducted a 2-2-1 cross-level mediation analysis to see if social cohesion mediated the relationship between social disorganization and IPV. I also probed individual domains of social disorganization and cohesion that were significantly associated with IPV.

For Aim 2, I included fixed and time varying variables of key variables (see Equation 3) to prospectively assess the effects of our predictors on IPV outcomes [151]. All time 1 predictors were included in the model; for variables identified as likely to change between the two data collection points, change scores were created (time 2 – time 1). This included household wealth, household FCS, percent of female-owned assets, male and female labor force participation, earning difference between partners, and household decision-making. Change variables for value of female-owned assets at the household and community-level were not included as they were too highly correlated with their values at time 1; a change variable for neighborhood percent of women with secondary education or higher was not included as a t-test found that the change between time 1 and time 2 was not statistically different from zero. Random slopes for level 1 predictors were tested individually to ensure model convergence; none of the random slopes were maintained as they were not statistically significant.

# Equation 3

Level 1:

$$\begin{split} IPV_{T2ij} &= \beta_{0j} + \beta_{2j} FemaleEducation_{T1, CWG} + \beta_{3j} FemaleAge_{T1} + \beta_{4j} FemaleWork_{T1, CWG} + \\ \beta_{5j} FemaleWorkLost_{T1, CWG} + \beta_{6j} FemaleWorkGained_{T1, CWG} + \beta_{7j} FemaleAssets_{T1, CWG} + \beta_{8j} \Delta FemaleAssets_{T1, CWG} + \\ \beta_{9j} MaleWork_{T1, CWG} + \beta_{10j} MaleWorkLost_{T1, CWG} + \beta_{11j} MaleWorkGained_{T1, CWG} + \\ \beta_{12j} PercentFemaleOwnership_{T1, CWG} + \beta_{13j} \Delta PercentFemaleOwnership_{CWG} + \beta_{14j} RelativeEarning_{T1, CWG} + \\ \beta_{15j} \Delta RelativeEarning_{SCWG} + \beta_{16j} SharedDecision_{T1, CWG} + \\ \beta_{17j} \Delta SharedDecision_{CWG} + \\ \beta_{18j} Controls_{T1} + r_{ij} \end{split}$$

# Level 2:

 $\begin{array}{l} \beta_{0j}=&\gamma_{00}+\gamma_{01}NeighFemaleEdu_{T1, \ GMC}+\gamma_{02}NeighEmploy_{T1, \ GMC}+\gamma_{03}\Delta NeighEmploy_{GMC}+\\ \gamma_{04}NeighAssetRatio_{T1, \ GMC}+\gamma_{05}\Delta NeighAssetRatio_{GMC}+\gamma_{06}NeighEarnDiff_{T1, \ GMC}+\gamma_{07}\Delta NeighEarnDiff_{GMC}+\\ \gamma_{08}NeighSharedDecision_{T1, \ GMC}+\gamma_{09}\Delta NeighSharedDecision_{GMC}+\\ \mu_{0j} \end{array}$ 

 $r_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$ 

 $\mu_j \thicksim \mathsf{N}(0,\tau^2)$ 

Notes: T1: Time 1; T2: Time 2; Δ: Change (time 2 – time 1); CWG: Centered within Group (i.e. neighborhood-mean centered) GMC: Grand Mean Centered

Finally, I assessed if the social and economic status of women at the neighborhood-level at time 1 moderated the association between household status of women at time 1 and IPV outcomes. We added the following interaction terms (one at a time to ensure model convergence): household educational difference\*neighborhood educational average for women; household percent of assets owned by females\*neighborhood average percent of household assets owned by females; female labor force participation\*percent of women participating in the labor force in the neighborhood. As none were significant, no additional moderation analysis was conducted.

# CHAPTER 6. SOCIAL DISORGANIZATION AND IPV IN CONFLICT-AFFECTED HOST COMMUNITIES (AIM 1)

# Background

Colombia experienced over fifty years of violent internal conflict between the government military, left-wing guerilla groups, and right-wing paramilitary groups. Exposure to violence and stressors was ubiquitous. The conflict in Colombia, which began in the late 1940s and formally ended with a peace deal ratified in 2016, displaced over 7.6 million Colombians internally and abroad [18, 19]. The majority of refugees resettled in Ecuador—with estimates ranging from 120,000 to 450,000 Colombians living in Ecuador [18, 20]. In Ecuador, Colombians often face severe psychosocial stressors, such as poverty, food and housing insecurity, violence, and discrimination [18, 21, 22]. The region is now facing a new humanitarian crisis that could potentially exacerbate existing problems. Currently, Venezuela's social, economic and political instability has resulted in the migration or displacement of over 3 million Venezuelans, many of which have migrated to Colombia and Ecuador [23]. Reports have documented extreme vulnerability among some displaced Venezuelans, including food insecurity, lack of access to education and medical care, poverty, exploitation, and fear of violence [69, 70].

Studies have found a high prevalence of IPV among women affected by conflict and displacement, with causal pathways poorly understood [76-81]. In general, refugees, displaced people, and people in conflict settings are at risk for human rights violations and often lack access to basic health care, housing, and education needs [152, 153]. For displaced and refugee women, this increased social vulnerability may translate into increased vulnerability in the household [53]. Research in conflict-affected communities has found that social disruption, male partner's exposure to political violence, and impoverishment increased women's risk of IPV victimization [7, 24-27]. In addition, legal status, lack of resources, and language and cultural barriers restricted refugee and migrant women's ability to leave violent relationships [28].

As outlined in the ecological framework for violence against women, women do not experience IPV in isolation of their familial, social, and neighborhood contexts [7, 8]. However, most research on IPV has focused on characteristics of the woman [8]. A growing number of research studies, almost entirely conducted in the United States, has begun identifying neighborhood factors that influence IPV outcomes [10-15]. However, very little research conducted in South America or conflict-affected communities has focused on identifying neighborhood-level predictors of IPV [10, 14, 16]. As such, a critical gap remains in our knowledge regarding neighborhood factors that can be modified to reduce IPV in South America and elsewhere.

Social disorganization theory provides a strong theoretical framework to explore community-level predictors of IPV in conflict-affected areas and host communities. Social disorganization theory, originally designed to explain why some communities experience higher crime than others, suggests that a community's social control over violent behavior becomes compromised when communities are characterized by instability, lack of social cohesion, and lack of resources. Social cohesion—or the level of trust and reliance between community members—acts as a mediator between neighborhood disorder and the likelihood of collaboration to address neighborhood challenges [10, 12]. Social cohesion can foster the exchange of resources and information, build social capital and result in developing collective efficacy, or the belief a group can work together to achieve shared goals [126, 127]. This social process can serve to improve health outcomes; alternatively, neighborhoods and their corresponding social dynamics can foster negative outcomes, such as health inequalities, delinquency, or crime [126, 128].

In the context of IPV, scholars theorize that when living in a community with weak social bonds and low social cohesion, neighbors may not know when IPV is occurring or may not feel an obligation to intervene when it is occurring [10, 12, 131]. Living in a violent environment could also normalize violence in the household [16]. In communities with high levels of distrust in other neighbors or in institutions, women may be less likely to reach out for help or access police or social services [131]. Abusive partners also use social isolation as a form of abuse, making it difficult for women to leave such relationships [132]. Conversely, social resources and cohesion may enhance a community's ability to prevent IPV [13, 15-20].

There is some empirical support for this theory. Research has found that community disorganization, weak community sanctions, and social norms supporting violence increases the risk of IPV [10-13, 29]. Although social disorganization theory specifically identifies social cohesion as a mediator between social disorganization and delinquency outcomes, there is a dearth of studies examining social process indicators, such as social cohesion [14]. Emerging data suggest that social support can serve to reduce the risk of IPV [15, 30, 31]. Importantly, interventions have been successful at increasing a community's solidarity, reciprocity, and social cohesion, suggesting that this is a modifiable protective factor and may be appropriate for IPV prevention purposes [32, 33, 50].

This study examines the relationship between neighborhood social disorganization and social cohesion factors, and individual IPV outcomes among refugee and host-community women in Northern Ecuador. Studies that examine neighborhood characteristics must try to account for neighborhood composition—or the clustering of individuals with similar individual-level risk and protective factors [9, 49]. An individual's exposure to psychosocial stressors, discrimination, and vulnerabilities could also increase conflict and violence in a relationship. As such, we aim to establish the contextual (e.g. community-level) and compositional (e.g. individual-level) impacts of social disorganization on IPV. We further identify if neighborhood social cohesion partially mediates the relationship between neighborhood social disorder and individual-level IPV, after accounting for individual, partner, and household characteristics.

#### Methods

This study draws on data from a cluster randomized controlled trial of a World Food Programme (WFP) Cash, Voucher, and Food Transfer intervention conducted by the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) in 2011. The project improved food consumption, decreased IPV, and increased social cohesion [33, 51, 140]. Standardized in-person surveys were administered to 2,357 households at time 1; 2,122 households were available for follow up approximately seven - eight months later, after approximately six months exposure to the intervention. In total, 1,312 women were partnered at both time points and were either the spouse of the head of household, or head of the household. Households were clustered in 80 neighborhoods (administrative units as defined by local government).

### Study setting

The study was conducted in Carchi and Sucumbíos, two provinces in northern Ecuador near the Colombian border. The provinces were selected because of the high concentration of Colombians living there. Carchi and Sucumbíos represent differing geographic, cultural, and socio-economic contexts, with Carchi in the northern highlands and Sucumbíos in the Amazonian lowlands. Seven urban centers within these areas were then selected if more than 10% of the urban population were refugees; the poverty index exceeded 50 percent; and there was the presence of implementing NGOs and financial institutions. Neighborhoods were then selected based on including a large percentage of Colombian and low-income households.

## Sample description

The sample includes 148 clusters, or enumeration areas, grouped in 80 neighborhoods. In each cluster, households were mapped and administered a one-page questionnaire regarding basic demographic and socio-economic questions to determine program eligibility, prior to program enrollment and study randomization. Randomization was stratified at the province level as the socioeconomic and geographic characteristics differ substantially between the two provinces. Clusters were randomized to treatment and control and then 20-27 households in each cluster were randomly selected to be interviewed in the initial survey. Additional information on the intervention and randomization can be found in previous publications [50, 51]. Colombian and Colombian-Ecuadorian households were oversampled to ensure a sufficient sample for comparative analysis. Households were eligible for inclusion in the program if they were classified as low socio-economic status (SES) and not currently receiving the Human Development Grant (BDH), which is the Government of Ecuador's national cash transfer program (Hidrobo et al., 2014).

# Data collection and ethics

Data were collected prior to intervention start in March-April 2011 and approximately seven months later (October-November 2011). Paper surveys were administered by trained field staff. Verbal consent was collected. Field staff were trained in accordance with the WHO ethical guidelines for conducting research on IPV including modules on ethical recruitment, consent and data collection

procedures; ensuring participant confidentiality, safety and privacy; and managing data to maintain confidentiality. Specific procedures were followed during data collection to ensure the safety of the participant. For example, field staff only asked IPV questions if there were no other family members, including her partner, present. In addition, anonymized referral information was offered to the woman after completing the IPV module with contact information for local services, regardless of if the women had disclosed IPV or not.

IRB approval was obtained from IFPRI and in-country data collection partner Centro de Estudios de Población y Desarrollo Social (CEPAR). The data is publicly available and secondary data analysis was approved by the ethics review board at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.

# Measures

Measures are described in detail in Table 1. The outcome variable assesses emotional, physical, and sexual IPV in the last six months (at time 2) using the WHO Violence Against Women Instrument [141, 142]. Female participants were asked thirteen items about physical, sexual or emotional IPV. Two dichotomous variables were created from these questions: having experienced physical or sexual violence in the last six months (yes/no) and having experienced emotional IPV in the last six months (yes/no) [140]. Exposure variables, all measured at time 1, reflect neighborhood-level social disorganization and cohesion; and individual and household exposure to psychosocial stressors and discrimination, migration history, and social support.

Using the full sample at time 1 (n=2,357), exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis were conducted in MPLUS to identify underlying latent constructs of social disorganization and social cohesion [154, 155]. Both EFA and CFA analyses accounted for categorical response distributions and the clustered structure of the dataset. EFA was conducted on half of the sample and results were evaluated with several indicators of fit (RMSEA, CFI, TLI). Items with poor factor loadings (<0.3) were removed and inter-factor correlations were assessed [148]. CFA was then conducted on the second half of the sample to confirm those domains. As some male heads of households and some female heads of household answered these questions, and perceptions of social cohesion may vary by gender, respondent gender was included as a control variable in the factor analysis. Specifically, item means were permitted to vary

by gender in addition to factor means [149]. Model fit was evaluated using SRMR, RMSEA, TLI and CFI. We then output factor score estimates for each household. From this process, household scores were created and then aggregated into neighborhood-level scores. Neighborhood scores were then standardized to improve interpretability of regression coefficients in subsequent analyses.

Factor analysis identified one underlying factor of social disorganization, which included neighborhood averages of wealth, female-headed households, household ownership, and residential instability (i.e. concentration of households that had moved to the neighborhood in the last 20 years). This maps on closely to Sampson's social disorganization domains of *concentrated disadvantage and residential stability* [92, 121]. As neighborhood concentration of psychosocial stressors did not map onto the larger domain of social disorganization during the EFA and CFA process, this was included as a separate indicator.

A total of 37 indicators were included in the survey to measure social cohesion; 26 indicators, across four domains, remained after conducting EFA and CFA. The four domains include trust in individuals; trust in institutions and community connectedness; experiences of discrimination; and civic engagement. Indicators of model fit were high (RMSEA: 0.02; CFI: 0.92; TLI: 0.91; SRMR: 0.07) and all final items but one had factor loadings of 0.3 or higher. However, while three of four domains were significantly correlated at 0.05 level, the strength of the correlation was low, indicating they may not represent a higher order social cohesion factor. Neighborhood average of social support was included separately, as this was measured with only one item. Social cohesion CFA results can be found in Table 6; Table 7 documents the correlations between domains.

At the household level, indicators of household wealth, food security, female and male labor force participation, psychosocial stressors, experiences of recent discrimination, civic engagement, social support, and household mobility were included. All models controlled for female age, education, and ethnicity; province; intervention status (pooled treatment); and IPV at time 1. Key household-level independent variables were centered within the neighborhood. Neighborhood-level independent variables were grand-mean centered (i.e. centered around the entire sample's mean). Centering allows us to parse out within-neighborhood variance and between-neighborhood variance, therefore allowing us to

understand the compositional and contextual affects, respectively, of these variables on IPV outcomes [143]. We also weighted neighborhood-level aggregates to account for the over-representation of Colombian households in our sample.

#### Analysis

We conducted an attrition analysis to examine if women who were partnered at time 1 and then lost to follow-up at time 2, were different from our study sample. Overall, 12.8% of women that were partnered at time 1 were lost to follow up or refused to participate at time 2. Table 1 in Appendix 2 presents regression coefficients between attrition and key independent variables. We found some evidence of differential attrition: households with Colombian male partners and households that had moved to the neighborhood in the last 20 years were more likely to attrite. We discuss how these differences, particularly regarding household mobility, may have affected our estimates in the discussion.

We assessed the pattern of missing data: 3.6% and 2.1% of women were missing data for IPV at time 1 and time 2, respectively. To avoid biases caused by using complete case analysis (i.e. list-wise deletion of exogenous predictors that is used in maximum likelihood models), we conducted joint multilevel multiple imputation to account for categorical variables and for the hierarchical nature of the data set [146].

We conducted multi-level logistic regression to examine the variance in IPV outcomes attributable to individual, partner, household, and neighborhood-level characteristics. Multi-level models account for heterogeneity between neighborhoods and take advantage of natural clustering of population groups to explain variation in the outcome of interest [150]. Maximum likelihood parameter estimates were generated with standard errors robust to non-normality and non-independence of observations [147]. Random intercepts were included in the models to account for unexplained neighborhood clustering related to IPV. We conducted a 2-2-1 cross-level mediation analysis to see if social cohesion mediated the relationship between social disorganization and IPV. Individual domains of social disorganization and cohesion that were significantly associated with IPV were also tested for mediation.

#### Results

Sample characteristics are reported in Tables 3 and 4. The average age of women in our sample was 35.9 years. Thirty-six percent of the women identified as Colombian and 42.7% of the sample had moved to the neighborhood sometime in the previous 20 years. Sixty-three percent of the sample had less than secondary education and 32% of women indicated labor force participation. Less than 2% of households were female-headed, and 58% reported renting their homes. Twenty-three percent of households reported some kind of recent psychosocial stressor, such as illness of a family member, being robbed, or experiencing a natural disaster. Thirty-eight percent reported experiencing discrimination in the last six months. Discrimination based on economic status, nationality, and occupation were the most commonly identified forms of discrimination. Fifty percent of the sample reported engaging in some kind of community activity in the last six months, and participants reported having 1.9 people, on average, they could turn to if in need of \$100 dollars.

At time 2, 29.4% and 15.6% of women reported emotional and physical or sexual IPV in the last six months, respectively (Table 5). The percent of women reporting IPV in each neighborhood varied. Neighborhood prevalence of emotional IPV ranged from 0 to 80% at time 1 and 0 to 76.9% at time 2. Neighborhood prevalence of physical and/or sexual IPV ranged from 0 to 50% at both timepoints. The intraclass correlation for both emotional and physical and/or sexual IPV was 0.04. This indicates that 4% of variation in IPV outcomes is due to neighborhood membership.

Social disorganization was marginally, positively associated with emotional IPV (AOR: 1.17, 95% CI: 0.99, 1.38) and trended in the same direction for physical and/or sexual IPV (AOR: 1.20, 95% CI: 0.96, 1.51) (Table 8 and 9, Models 1a and 2a). We also explored individual domains of social disorganization and social cohesion and their association with IPV outcomes (Tables 8 and 9, Models 1b and 2b). Residential instability was marginally, positively associated with emotional (AOR: 1.10, 95% CI: 0.98, 1.23) and physical and/or sexual IPV (AOR: 1.13, 95% CI: 0.98, 1.30). Neighborhood civic engagement was negatively associated with emotional IPV (AOR: 0.84, 95% CI 0.74, 0.96). The magnitude of the coefficient was similar for physical and/or sexual IPV, but did not reach statistical

significance at p<0.05 (AOR: 0.85, 0.72, 1.00). In contrast to our hypothesis, neighborhood 'trust in institutions and community connectedness' was positively associated with emotional IPV (AOR: 1.25, 95% CI: 1.07, 1.47).

Social disorganization and social cohesion were negatively associated (AOR: 0.76, 0.60, 0.96), but social cohesion did not act as a mediator of the relationship between social disorganization and IPV outcomes (Tables 8 and 9, Models 1a and 2a). We tested mediation for the individual domains that were associated with IPV outcomes. We found a marginally statistically significant indirect effect of social disorganization on IPV through neighborhood civic engagement (AOR: 1.06, 95% CI: 1.00, 1.14). The results suggest that higher social disorganization is associated with lower civic engagement (AOR: 0.94, 95% CI: 0.91, 0.98) and higher civic engagement is associated with lower odds of emotional IPV (AOR: 0.35, 95% CI: 0.13, 0.93; Table 8, Model 1c). We did not find the same relationship for physical and/or sexual IPV (Table 9, Model 2c). We also did not see indications of mediation for residential instability and social cohesion domains or "trust in institutions and community connectedness" and social disorganization domains (results not shown).

Within the household, psychosocial stressors and supports were associated with IPV outcomes (Table 8, Model 1c and Table 9, Model 2c). Women living in households reporting perceived discrimination at time 1 were significantly more likely to report emotional IPV (AOR: 1.49, 95% CI: 1.11, 1.99) and physical and/or sexual IPV (AOR: 1.58, 95% CI: 1.12, 2.23) at time 2, compared to households that did not report any discrimination. Women living in households reporting higher number of psychosocial stressors had significantly higher odds of emotional (AOR: 1.37, 95% CI 1.13, 1.68) and physical and/or sexual IPV (AOR: 1.64, 95% CI: 1.26, 2.15). Households reporting a higher number of people (outside of the household) in which they could borrow \$100 in an emergency had significantly lower odds of reporting emotional IPV (AOR: 0.95, 95% CI: 0.91, 1.00) and marginally lower odds of reporting physical and/or sexual IPV (AOR: 0.95, 95% CI: 0.90, 1.01). Participation in community events, and male and female nationality were not associated with IPV outcomes. Household-level mobility was negatively associated with emotional IPV (AOR: 0.67, 95 % CI: 0.46, 0.97).

## Discussion

While theory and research illustrate the significant impacts conflict and mass migration have on community structures and social processes, the influence of neighborhood factors on IPV remains largely unexplored [91]. To our knowledge, this is one of the first studies to examine social disorganization and social cohesion in conflict-affected and host communities in South America. Our research analyzed longitudinal data to refine and develop effective prevention and response programming in host communities and for particularly vulnerable women and families.

We found that social disorganization was marginally associated with IPV, as has been seen in other settings [14, 92]. However, our study results differ slightly from previous social disorganization and IPV research. Pinchevsky's 2012 systematic review of studies examining social disorganization factors and IPV outcomes found that indicators of concentrated disadvantage were consistently associated with IPV outcomes, but indicators of immigrant concentration and residential instability were not [92]. VanderEnde's 2012 review of literature on community-level correlates of IPV, found the same pattern among social disorganization literature [14]. When we explored individual domains of social disorganization, we found that residential instability, but not community wealth, percent of renters or percent of female headed households, was related to physical and/or sexual IPV. The majority of social disorganization research has been conducted in the United States, thus it is possible that different indicators are more relevant in international or conflict-affected areas. Furthermore, our neighborhood variables were constructed using a sample of the most economically vulnerable of the neighborhood, to fit the needs of the original intervention the data was collected for, as opposed to a representative sample of the entire neighborhood. While aggregated neighborhood variables were weighted to account for oversampling of Colombian households, these were still not representative of the entire neighborhood in terms of SES, and may be limited by low variation across geography and social strata. For example, other studies which include greater variation in SES (whereas our neighborhoods are all, by definition, poor) may have more power to detect effects. These factors may be why we do not see a relationship between concentrated disadvantage and IPV, as has been documented in other studies.

We hypothesized that social disorganization would influence IPV outcomes through a social cohesion mediator. We saw a marginally significant indirect effect of social disorganization on IPV through neighborhood-level civic engagement, in the expected direction. Previous research has found that collective efficacy, a distinct but related domain of social cohesion, has similarly been identified as a protective factor for IPV in some, but not all, settings [30, 94, 156]. A neighborhood's level of civic engagement may indicate that the community is more comfortable and practiced working together on shared concerns, and therefore may be more adept at addressing or preventing issues such as IPV. The international development community has focused extensively on promoting social cohesion to support the mental and physical health of refugees, displaced people and migrants, to ensure social stability in host communities, and to generate public support for social protection programs [33, 97, 98]. These findings suggest that programming that encourages civic engagement and community participation in host communities can work simultaneously to reduce the risk of IPV.

Our combined social cohesion measure did not act as a mediator between social disorganization and IPV. Further, in contrast to our hypothesis, we found that neighborhood-level trust in institutions was positively associated experiencing emotional IPV. There are a number of potential reasons for this relationship. For example, women who have previously experienced IPV could have successfully sought help from local organizations and therefore have higher trust in certain institutions, driving this unanticipated effect. It is also possible that the relationship could reflect an endogenous placement of programs and services—local officials or community organizations could be responding to high rates of IPV prevalence in neighborhoods by purposefully placing and strengthening institutions in locations of high need. Alternatively, this association could be a result of measurement. Our measure of trust in institutions was not previously validated and there is a wide range of indicators used in international contexts [97, 129, 157]. It may be that our measure captured a different latent construct than we intended or did not capture all aspects of theorized aspects of trust in institutions and community connectedness.

We included household level indicators that mirror social disorganization and cohesion to better understand compositional versus contextual effects of the concentration of economic and social vulnerabilities. A large number of participants reported experiencing some form of discrimination or psychosocial stressor; both of which were positively related to IPV. Theory posits that external stressors

on the household and partnership increase tension in the family, therefore increasing the risk of IPV [109]. Wirtz's qualitative work with internally displaced Colombian women found that women attributed IPV to their partner's exposure to political violence, their partners' lost employment, and economic insecurity as a cause of IPV [53]. While there is not a large body of literature on the relationship between discrimination and IPV, our results are consistent with findings from other studies [158-161]. Exposure to discrimination and psychosocial stressors among conflict-affected communities has been associated with significant physical and mental health outcomes, including death, disability, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, increased substance use, and, in adolescents, externalizing behaviors (e.g. defiance, aggression and anti-social behavior) [110, 162-165]. These may be important mediators in the relationship between discrimination and psychosocial stressors and psychosocial stressors and IPV, but were not measured in our data.

In line with our hypothesis and previous research, we found that household-level social support was protective against IPV [15, 30, 31, 166]. There are several plausible reasons for this relationship. Social support could reflect the household's social capital within their immediate network, that would encourage intervening in abusive situations. It may also be that social support can help mitigate stress and conflict that otherwise would lead to IPV. Traditional feminist theory posits that social support also plays an important role in women leaving abusive relationships. Our results, as well as other research that has found that social support mitigates the consequences of IPV in terms of mental health and perceived quality of life [167-169], suggest exploring interventions to increase women's support networks as both an IPV prevention and response mechanism.

While we found that neighborhood residential stability was marginally positively associated with physical and/or sexual IPV, we did not see a relationship between nationality, which can be seen as a proxy for international migration, and IPV outcomes. We did see that household mobility was negatively associated with emotional IPV. This analysis also did not take in to account the reason for moving to the neighborhood, years since relocating, or adversities experienced during migration. However, these likely influence IPV and merit further research. Refugees, displaced people, and people in conflict settings are often separated from families and their traditional social support networks; experience significant financial hardships; and face significant challenges resettling [85, 88, 164, 170, 171]. Further, exposure to conflict-

related violence has also been documented as a risk factor for IPV in other settings. Research conducted in Palestine found that men's exposure to political violence increased the female's partner risk of recent IPV [25]. Among Liberian men, male perpetration of IPV was significantly associated with direct war violence, coercion to participate in violence, witnessing war violence, and having taken part in the conflict [172]. Research among immigrants in the United States also found that pre-migration exposure to violence was associated with men's perpetration of IPV [26]. With over 68 million displaced people worldwide, there is a critical need to better understand the relationship between exposure to conflict, displacement, and IPV [52].

Finally, we found some differences in what factors were associated with emotional IPV compared to those associated with physical and/or sexual IPV. There are several potential explanations for those differences. First, for many predictors, they often trended in the same direction, even if they did not both achieve statistical significance, which could be a result of sample size. However, while emotional and physical and/or sexual IPV are highly correlated, and often overlap, they are distinct constructs. As such, we would expect to see some differences in what predicts each outcome [173]. This could be due to differences in the social acceptability of emotional abuse compared to physical or sexual abuse. Further, emotional abuse may not present the same way as physical violence, in terms of physical manifestations, and therefore it is more difficult for health care providers, friends or family to identify [174]. Finally, a common component of emotional violence is isolation, which further deters women from receiving support, and increasing her vulnerability to more abuse.

Our research has additional some limitations. Mediation analyses ideally use three time points to assure the temporal ordering of all variables. We only used two data points, and can only assess associations between social disorganization and social cohesion. While we cannot establish a temporal ordering of those two variables, the hypothesized model is in-line with social disorganization theory. Furthermore, our neighborhoods were defined by administrative units which may not reflect an accurate geographic boundary of women's communities [9]. Our measures of social cohesion and disorganization were not necessarily comprehensive, and other factors, such as collective efficacy and other social norms variables that may act as mediators between disorganization and IPV, such as norms supportive of violence, were not directly measured. Finally, neighborhood-level indicators represent a social context for

the women in our sample at a specific point in time. Since data was collected, a peace treaty was signed between the Colombian government and the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia (FARC). While substantial progress has been made in laying down arms and reintegrating former combatants since the agreement was made in 2016, much of the accord remains to be implemented and significant violence still remains in Colombia [175]. Further, with the mass migration of Venezuelans to Colombia and Ecuador, we believe this research remains relevant.

Our findings aim to inform IPV prevention and response programming in highly vulnerable communities. Overall, our findings suggest the importance of targeting communities with high levels of residential instability and adopting social cohesion programming, specifically focusing on civic engagement, for IPV prevention. At the household-level, mitigating exposures to psychosocial stressors and discrimination, as well as increasing social support, can serve to reduce risk to IPV. Future research is needed to continue expanding our understanding of social disorganization and cohesion in conflict-affected areas and host communities, as well as, the unique risk and protective factors for migrants and displaced people in diverse settings

#### CHAPTER 7. WOMEN'S STATUS AND IPV: EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE FROM A LONGITUDINAL SAMPLE OF LOW-INCOME WOMEN IN NORTHERN ECUADOR (AIM 2)

# Background

Intimate partner violence (IPV), or emotional, physical and sexual abuse by a current or former partner, is a significant problem in South America and worldwide [1]. Over 30% of Ecuadorian and 37.5% of Colombian women report experiencing IPV in their lifetime [2-4]. IPV increases a woman's likelihood of experiencing multiple adverse health and social outcomes, including depression, suicidality, alcohol use, physical injuries, sexually transmitted infections, and homicide [1, 2, 5].

Increasing the social and economic status of women may help reduce IPV in South America [10, 42, 43]. Feminist theory highlights gender inequality, social status, and restricted rights of women as significant contributors to the high rates of violence experienced by women [29, 44, 45]. The last few decades have seen radical shifts in the status of women in the region, especially regarding laws criminalizing violence against women and improving girls' access to education. Ecuador and Colombia both outlawed domestic violence in the mid-1990s; Ecuador also made changes to its judiciary structure to improve its adjudication of cases of IPV [36, 72]. In 2007, Ecuador created a plan for the eradication of violence against children, adolescents, and women, signifying that violence prevention was a national priority. Further, the Ecuadorian constitution specifically names, in the *Rights of Liberty*, the right to live free of violence in both public and private spheres, and the government's obligation to put actions in place to prevent, eliminate, and sanction all forms of violence [37]. Colombia similarly enacted the Gender Equality Law (Law 1257) in 2008 and created specific special counsels to prosecute high priority cases of sexual violence as a result of the internal conflict [34, 72].

These countries have achieved parallel advances on gender equality outcomes, however gaps remain. Women in Ecuador and Colombia have made significant gains in closing the education gap, a

critical enabler of gender equality [35]. According to the World Bank, Ecuadorian girls are enrolled in and graduating from each level of education at the same or higher rates than their male counterparts, except amongst the lowest socio-economic groups. Here the ratio of female to male lower-secondary completion rate remains at 84%. Colombian women have also achieved improvements in education, with similar enrollment and completion rates for male and female children [40]. However, substantial challenges remain in terms of economic equality. Women face high rates of poverty and unemployment in both Ecuador and Colombia. In Ecuador, only 49% of women over the age of 15 participate in the workforce compared to 80% of men over the age of 15, and the unemployment rate is almost 60% higher among women than men [39]. In Colombia, women face similar economic, political, and social disadvantages. The unemployment rate is over 75% higher among women compared to men and women are also less likely to have any kind of personal income compared to men [74].

Previous research in Latin American settings found that a woman's share of the couple's wealth is significantly associated with lower odds of physical violence and that land-owning women are less likely to experience IPV compared to women who did not own land [42, 43]; however, research on asset ownership in other low- and middle-income countries, with nationally-representative data, has found inconsistent results [46]. Heise and Kotsadam (2015) found that a higher percent of women engaged in the workforce was associated with lower mean IPV prevalence in a bivariate analysis (e.g. an ecological analysis); country-level women's workforce participation also moderated the relationship between individual level risk and protective factors (e.g. working for cash) and IPV outcomes [29]. Joint decision-making in the household, as a proxy for equal household power dynamics, has also been associated with a lower risk of IPV in some, but not all, settings [47, 48]. Additional research on the relationship between IPV and indicators of social and economic equality is needed.

The influence of the social and economic status of women on IPV outcomes likely operates at both the individual and community level. IPV has traditionally been framed as an individual experience, however, in reality, families are nested in their neighborhoods and communities and "do not exist in isolation from their surrounding social contexts" [12]. Feminist theory identifies hegemonic patriarchy as a critical enabler of violence against women, including IPV [45]. Hegemonic patriarchy manifests itself as the systematic devaluation of women operationalized through "societal and institutional conditions, norms

and rules that perpetually disenfranchise women and are intrinsically linked to issues of power and control" [135]. Violence towards women, given their inferior status, is then 'allowable' or justified within this framework. Above and beyond raising the social or economic position of a single woman, doing so for women en masse serves to disrupt that system and may reduce the acceptability of violence against women. Scholars also theorize that elevating the status of women could be an important mechanism in elevating the issue of ending IPV within a community [96].

An emerging body of research exploring the relationship between individual IPV outcomes and the status of women within their communities have documented protective effects of community-level education, autonomy, and gender equality, and that community-level variables moderate some individual-level associations with IPV [29, 47, 104, 176]. However, gaps, especially in the South American context, remain. For example, in a 2015 systematic review of 36 studies that explored neighborhood factors associated with IPV, the majority of studies (83%) found links between neighborhood factors and IPV, but only two were conducted in South America [10, 16, 48]. Furthermore, the majority of research conducted has been correlational, limiting our ability to make causal inferences from findings [17]. As such, additional research is needed to understand the impact of a woman's status within her household versus the impact of women's status in the neighborhood at large, or how household and neighborhood status of women interact, in the South America context.

To address these knowledge gaps, we analyzed longitudinal data collected in Northern Ecuador among low-income Ecuadorian and Colombian women to assess if women's status in the household and neighborhood predict recent IPV. We further explored if the neighborhood-level status of women moderated the relationship between household status and IPV.

#### Methods

This study draws on data from a cluster randomized controlled trial of a World Food Programme (WFP) Cash, Voucher, and Food Transfer intervention conducted by the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) in northern Ecuador in 2011. The project improved food consumption, decreased IPV, and increased social cohesion [33, 51, 140]. Standardized in-person surveys were administered to 2,357 households at time 1; 2,122 households were available for follow up approximately

seven - eight months later, after approximately six months exposure to the intervention. In total, 1,312 women were partnered at both time points and were either the spouse of the head of household, or head of the household. Households were clustered in 80 barrios, or administrative neighborhood units as defined by local government.

#### Study setting

The WFP's cash, voucher, and food transfer program was conducted in urban areas of two provinces near the Colombian border. Carchi and Sucumbíos provinces were selected because of the high concentration of low-income Ecuadorians and Colombians living there. Carchi and Sucumbíos represent differing geographic, cultural, and socio-economic contexts, with Carchi in the northern highlands and Sucumbíos in the Amazonian lowlands. Urban centers within these areas were then selected if more than 10% of the urban population were refugees; the poverty index exceeded 50 percent; and there was the presence of implementing NGOs and financial institutions. Seven urban centers in total were included in the study. Within those cities, neighborhoods were then selected for inclusion based on including a large percentage of Colombian and low-income households.

#### Sample description

The sample includes 148 clusters, or enumeration areas, grouped in 80 neighborhoods. In each enumeration area, households were mapped and administered a one-page questionnaire regarding basic demographic and socio-economic questions to determine program eligibility, prior to program enrollment and study randomization. Randomization was stratified at the province level, as the socioeconomic and geographic characteristics differ substantially between the two provinces. Clusters were first randomized to treatment or control, and then clusters within the treatment sample were randomized into Cash, Food, or Vouchers; in each cluster, 20-27 households were randomly selected to be interviewed in the survey at time 1. Additional information on the intervention and randomization can be found in previous publications [50, 51]. Colombian and Colombian-Ecuadorian households were oversampled to ensure a sufficient sample for comparative analysis. Households were eligible for inclusion in the program if they were classified as low socio-economic status (SES) and not currently receiving the Human Development Grant (BDH), which is the Government of Ecuador's national cash transfer program.

# Data collection and ethics

Data were collected prior to intervention start (March-April 2011) and approximately seven months later (October-November 2011) (Hidrobo et al., 2014). Paper surveys were administered by trained field staff, and verbal consent was collected. Field staff were trained in accordance with the WHO ethical guidelines for conducting research on IPV, including modules on ethical recruitment, consent and data collection procedures; ensuring participant confidentiality, safety and privacy; and managing data to maintain confidentiality. Specific procedures were followed during data collection to ensure the safety of the participant. For example, field staff only asked IPV questions if there were no other family members, including her partner, present. In addition, anonymized referral information was offered to the woman after completing the IPV module with contact information for local services, regardless of if the women had disclosed IPV or not.

IRB approval was obtained from IFPRI and in-country data collection partner Centro de Estudios de Población y Desarrollo Social (CEPAR). The data are publicly available and we obtained approval for secondary data analysis from the ethics review board at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.

# Measures

Measures are described in detail in Table 2. The outcome variables assessed emotional, physical and/or sexual IPV in the last six months (at time 2) using the WHO Violence Against Women Instrument [141, 142]. Female participants were asked thirteen measures of physical, sexual or emotional IPV that occurred ever or in the last six months (corresponding to the intervention period). Two dichotomous variables were created: having experienced physical and/or sexual violence in the last six months (yes/no) and having experienced emotional IPV in the last six months (yes/no) [140].

Exposure variables reflect the status of women at the individual, household, and neighborhoodlevel including female age, education, access to resources, and household decision-making. Female access to resources was assessed with several variables including: female employment status, female earnings compared to male partner, female asset ownership, and asset ownership compared to male partner. Differences in age and education level between the woman and her partner were also constructed. Neighborhood variables were aggregated from household responses from the full sample at

time 1 to reflect women's neighborhood environment. These variables included: percent of women with secondary education or higher; average percent of household assets owned by females; average female labor force participation; percent of women earning the same or more as their partner; and average percent of female-involvement in decision-making.

#### Analysis

We conducted an attrition analysis to examine if women who were partnered at time 1 and then lost to follow-up at time 2, were different from our study sample. Overall, 12.8% of women that were partnered at time 1 were lost to follow up or refused to participate at time 2. Table 2 in Appendix 2 presents results of logistic regression analysis of attrition on key independent variables. While age was significant, this difference is likely to result in lower bound estimates, and not a source of significant bias.

We also assessed the pattern of missing data in our sample; 3.6% and 2.1% of women were missing data for IPV at time 1 and time 2, respectively. One to two percent of women were missing household decision-making data; and around 4% of women were missing data on earning comparison. To avoid biases caused by using complete case analysis (i.e. list-wise deletion that is used in maximum likelihood models), we conducted joint multilevel multiple imputation to account for categorical variables, and for the hierarchical nature of the data set [146].

We then conducted multi-level logistic regression to examine the variance in IPV outcomes attributable to individual, partner, household, and neighborhood-level characteristics. Multi-level models account for heterogeneity between neighborhoods and take advantage of natural clustering of population groups to explain variation in the outcome of interest from predictors at multiple levels [150]. Maximum likelihood parameter estimates were generated with standard errors robust to non-normality and nonindependence of observations. Random intercepts were included in the models to account for unexplained neighborhood clustering related to IPV. Random slopes for level 1 predictors were tested; none of the random slopes were maintained as they were not statistically significant.

To prospectively assess the effects of our predictors on IPV outcomes, we included fixed and time-varying variables of key status variables [151]. All time 1 predictors were included in the model; for variables identified as likely to change between the two data collection points, change scores were

created (time 2 – time 1). This included household wealth, household FCS, value of female-owned assets, percent of female-owned assets, male and female labor force participation, earning difference between partners, and household decision-making. Change variables were also created for neighborhood variables (i.e. the change of neighborhood averages between time 1 and time 2), except for education, as a t-test indicated that the change was not statistically different from zero. Change variables for value of female-owned assets at the household and community-level were not included as they were too highly correlated with their values at time 1. All models controlled for demographic variables (province, gender of head of household, female age and nationality, and male labor force participation), intervention status (pooled treatment), and IPV at time 1.

Key household-level independent variables were centered within the neighborhood. Neighborhood-level independent variables were grand-mean centered (i.e. centered around the entire sample's mean). Centering allows us to parse out within-neighborhood variance and betweenneighborhood variance [143]. We also weighted neighborhood-level aggregates to account for the overrepresentation of Colombian households in our sample.

We then assessed if the social and economic status of women at the neighborhood-level (at time 1) moderated the association between household status of women and IPV outcomes. We added the following interaction terms (one at a time to ensure model convergence): household educational difference\*neighborhood educational average for women; household percent of assets owned by females\*neighborhood average percent of household assets owned by females; female labor force participation\*percent of women participating in the labor force in the neighborhood. As none were significant, no additional moderation analysis was conducted.

#### Results

Sample characteristics are listed in Table 10. The average age of women in our sample was 35.9 years and 39.6 years for men, representing an average 3.7-year age gap. More than 60% of the sample had less than secondary education; around 67% of households reported women having with the same level of education as than their male partners. A little more than 35% of the women identified as Colombian. The majority of women (84.7%) reported earning less than their male partners at time 1 and

women reported owning about a 1/3 of the value of assets. Women reported high levels of involvement in decision-making—on average, women were involved in over 80% of decision-making across eight domains.

At time 2, 29.4% of women reported emotional IPV and 15.6% reported physical and/or sexual IPV in the last six months; the prevalence for both were stable over time (Table 5). The percent of women reporting IPV in each neighborhood varied. Neighborhood prevalence of emotional IPV ranged from 0 to 80% at time 1 and 0 to 76.9% at time 2. Neighborhood prevalence of physical and/or sexual IPV ranged from 0 to 50% at both time points. The intraclass correlation for emotional and physical and/or sexual IPV was 0.04. This indicates that 4% of variation in IPV outcomes is due to neighborhood factors. Province was associated with emotional IPV. Women in Carchi had significantly higher odds of experiencing emotional IPV than women from Sucumbíos (AOR: 1.77, 95% CI 1.13, 2.75).

Table 11 displays results of our final models. Females' increase in participation in household decision-making between time 1 and time 2 was associated with decreased odds of physical and/or sexual IPV (AOR: 0.41, 95% CI: 0.21, 0.78); this association was similar for emotional IPV but was marginally significant (AOR: 0.57, 95% CI: 0.30, 1.06). Increases in neighborhood average female-involved decision-making was associated with decreased odds of emotional IPV (AOR: 0.78, 95% CI: 0.61, 0.99).

Female education was also identified as a protective factor. Women who completed secondary education or higher had significantly lower odds of experiencing emotional IPV than women with less than secondary education (AOR: 0.70, 95% 0.49, 0.99). At the relational level, women with lower education than their partners were significantly more likely to experience emotional IPV (AOR: 1.71, 95% CI: 1.22, 2.42) and physical and/or sexual IPV than women with the same or more education than their partners (AOR: 1.57, 95% CI: 1.08, 2.28). The neighborhood percent of women with secondary education or higher was also inversely associated with women's odds of experiencing emotional IPV, but this was marginally significant (AOR: 0.90, 95% CI: 0.78, 1.03).

Other indicators of female economic empowerment that might serve as a proxy for status of women in the household or neighborhood—such as value of female-owned assets, household percent of female-owned assets, and earning difference—were not associated with IPV outcomes. However, consistent male labor force participation was associated with lower odds of experiencing physical and/or sexual IPV (AOR: 0.30, 95% CI: 0.10, 0.92). Whereas joining the labor force between time 1 and time 2, for women, was associated with higher odds of physical and/or sexual IPV (AOR: 1.76, 95% CI: 1.18, 2.63). Assignment to an intervention group—a economic transfer with food security objectives—was protective against IPV, as previous research has found [140]. Conversely, we found that household wealth was associated with higher odds of emotional IPV (AOR: 1.14, 95% CI: 1.01, 1.30). Our analysis did not yield any significant findings regarding moderation (results not shown).

#### Discussion

We identified modifiable indicators of women's status in the home and neighborhood among lowincome Ecuadorian and Colombian women. Theory drove the selection of predictors that we explored and we utilized a longitudinal dataset to improve our ability to make casual inferences, whereas most IPV research has relied on correlational data. We also looked at multiple levels of predictors, as well as how they interacted, as recommended by experts in the field [17]. Data on predictors of IPV in South America is limited, and this research contributes to our understanding of IPV in this setting.

We found a protective relationship between IPV and decision-making at the household and neighborhood level. Previous research has found inconsistent relationships between household-level measures of decision-making and IPV, likely as a result of differences in how the measure is treated, statistically and theoretically [177]. There are different theoretical assumptions about what best serves as a proxy for women's empowerment within the household—joint decision-making, sole decision-making on the part of the woman, or a decision-making relationship that reflects her preferences (which is often not asked) [177]. We chose to measure household decision-making as a continuous measure of the percent of domains the woman is involved in. We made this choice based on the assumption that within each couple there are unmeasured differences in preferences around who should be involved in different domains of decision-making and if that decision should be made together or independently, but that a

'gender equitable' relationship likely involves some female involvement in decision-making. Our findings support the use of interventions that provide couples with skills to communicate and negotiate around decision-making more effectively, as well as gender-transformative programming that challenges traditional ideas of masculinity and gender roles and advocates for more equitable relationship dynamics [178-180].

Average female-involved decision-making in a neighborhood provides insight into neighborhood norms around decision-making. To our knowledge, this is the first study to explore household decision-making at the neighborhood-level; this approach provides an interesting proxy for the status of women in their community. Our findings about neighborhood average decision-making support the use of community-level approaches, such as community mobilization. Qualitative research conducted in the context of a gender-transformative community mobilization randomized control trial in sub-Saharan Africa found that community-level approaches serve to generate community-level support for gender-equitable norms, which bolstered individual-level adoption of gender equitable behaviors and helped intervention participants sustain non-violent behavior [181]. When evaluated quantitatively, adolescent girls living in villages that received the gender-transformative community mobilization intervention had lower odds of experiencing IPV, compared to their peers in control villages [182].

We also found that achieving secondary education and educational parity between male and female partners was protective for women against various forms of IPV; neighborhood percent of women with secondary education or higher trended in the same direction. The World Bank, United Nations, and WHO all recognize equal access to education as a critical enabler of gender equity for women, reducing poverty, and facilitating economic development in low and middle-income countries. Low educational achievement prevents access to quality employment, increases vulnerability to poverty, and acts as a barrier to social and political stability [73]. By increasing access to safe employment, safe and high-quality education can allow for more financial independence and less economic dependence [17, 99].

Previous research has found mixed and sometimes contradictory results regarding educational differentials and IPV outcomes [48, 100-102] and that the relationship between female education and IPV may not be linear, but instead an inverted u-shape. Although we did not find that community average
education of women moderated the relationship between educational differences and IPV, there could be other, unmeasured, community-level moderators—such as community gender norms or attitudes towards violence—that would explain why the relationship between education-level, education differential and IPV is inconsistent between study settings and between IPV type [17, 99]. It is also possible that our choice of control factors, or inability to look at education-level in multiple categories (because few women reported either no education or more than secondary education) resulted in differences between our study and others.

We did not find that our other neighborhood level variables—average percent of women owned asset values, percent of women earning the same or more than their partners, or average labor force participation—predicted either emotional or physical and/or sexual IPV or act as a moderator of relational level factors and IPV outcomes. However, we did see that IPV prevalence varied between neighborhoods and province was a significant predictor of emotional IPV, with women living in Carchi being more likely to experience IPV than women living in Sucumbíos. The research on community-level predictors and moderators of IPV is still nascent; a recent systematic review of prospective studies of risk factors for IPV found only seven community and no structural level factors out of 71 measured factors [183]. As such, our proxies of women's status in their communities likely need further refinement and exploration.

We expected indicators of female economic empowerment to be protective factors. However, we did not see a relationship between IPV and the value of female-owned assets, the percentage of household assets owned by the woman, or comparative earnings at either the household or neighborhood level. Feminist theory suggests that financial dependence on men can increase vulnerability to IPV, and poverty and limited resources prevent leaving or avoiding abusive relationships [184]. Women's participation in the labor force is also seen as a significant indicator of gender equality—working should increase a woman's economic independence and prevent her from being isolated and without social resources to avoid or leave violent relationships [96]. However, we found that joining the labor force was associated with increased odds of experiencing physical and/or sexual violence. Qualitative studies in Colombia have found that female engagement in the work force resulted in working longer hours and contributing a higher percentage of family income, but no increase in bargaining power or economic independence, and increases in partner conflict [27, 83]. In the context of extremely low-

income households, it may be that the earnings from their employment are not enough to shift power dynamics within a relationship. Research in other areas have found that extremely poor women work to alleviate financial hardships, and these financial stressors may exacerbate risk of IPV [173, 185]. Alternatively, working outside the home—potentially a deviation from traditional gender norms in the area—could create conflict within a relationship. Interestingly, the parent intervention of this study, as well as several other economic empowerment programs, have identified casual reductions in IPV [112]. Of fourteen identified quantitative studies in a recent review examining cash transfers and impacts on IPV, all but one of these interventions targeted women, representing a boost to their income specifically. Our divergent findings—that intervention participation was protective, joining the labor force was a risk factor, and no relationship between other indicators of economic empowerment—reinforce the need to closely examine different strategies in which to empower women economically as a mechanism to reduce IPV.

We also found consistent participation in the labor force for men was associated with reduced odds of physical and/or sexual IPV. Although some theorize that male employment may increase the risk of IPV because of an increase in the man's bargaining power and power disparities in the relationship [186], others theorize that male unemployment, and the inability to meet social norms about providing for one's family, can cause depression, substance use, and frustration—increasing the likelihood of IPV [27, 28]. In line with our findings, a study in India found that women whose husbands had intermittent or no stable employment were at higher risk of IPV compared to women whose husbands had stable work [187]. Two qualitative studies in Colombia found that women perceived their partner's lack of employment contributed to conflict and IPV in their relationships [27, 53].

Our study has some limitations. Sample size may have limited our ability to identify communitylevel predictors of IPV or moderators, as the sample was originally designed to meet the data requirements for an impact evaluation. Also, this sample is not representative of these two provinces in Ecuador, but of low-income homes in neighborhoods with a high percentage of low-income and Colombian households. Our neighborhood variables were also constructed using a sample of the most vulnerable of the neighborhood, to fit the needs of the original intervention the data was collected for, as opposed to a representative sample of the entire neighborhood. While aggregated neighborhood variables were weighted to account for oversampling of Colombian households, these were still not

representative of the entire neighborhood in terms of SES. There was also some attrition in our sample. While age was significantly correlated with attrition over the panel period, it does not appear to be problematic for the main conclusions presented in the analysis. Furthermore, our neighborhoods were defined by administrative units which may not reflect an accurate geographic boundary of women's communities [9]. Finally, there may be unmeasured covariates that influence IPV outcomes that were not captured in this analysis.

Despite these limitations, we believe this research contributes significantly to the literature. A growing evidence base of causally linked risk and protective factors for IPV in various settings has allowed for more effective prevention and response programming. The need for additional evidenced-based and promising interventions to reduce IPV compel the field to continue researching root causes of IPV [1, 58]. Our results build on our current understanding of IPV, and underscore the importance of thoughtfully identifying strategies to raise the status of women within their partnerships, households and their communities. Further research should employ representative, longitudinal samples to identify how these factors interact to mitigate risk for women in diverse contexts.

#### **CHAPTER 8. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH**

This dissertation sought to identify predictors of IPV at multiple levels—individual, partner, household, and neighborhood. Informed by social disorganization (Aim 1) and feminist theory (Aim 2), I tested risk and protective factors that reflect the social context of the neighborhoods in Northern Ecuador where data was collected. I further explored how these variables interacted with each other, through mediation and moderation hypotheses.

Social disorganization was marginally, positively associated with emotional IPV, and indicated the same trend for physical and/or sexual IPV. When exploring individual domains of social disorganization and cohesion, I found that higher than average neighborhood residential instability was marginally positivity associated with IPV, and neighborhood civic engagement was negatively associated with IPV. However, one domain of social cohesion—trust in institutions and community connectedness—was positively associated with emotional IPV, in contrast to our hypothesis. At the household level, experiencing psychosocial stressors and discrimination were positively associated with all forms of IPV; while higher social support was associated with lower odds of IPV.

When examining if the social status of women influenced IPV outcomes, I found that increased household decision-making at the household-level was negatively associated with physical and/or sexual IPV, and at the neighborhood-level was negatively associated with emotional IPV. Higher female education was also a protective factor for emotional IPV, while having less education than their partner was a risk factor for both emotional and physical and/or sexual IPV. However, I did not find that indicators of female economic empowerment were negatively associated with IPV outcomes. Further, I did not see evidence of neighborhood level indicators of women's social status moderating the relationship between household factors and IPV.

### **Summary of limitations**

This study is not without limitations. Our outcome measure, of recent emotional and physical and/or sexual violence, was self-reported. It is possible that participants were not comfortable disclosing their experiences of IPV to field staff. Gold-standard procedures for collecting IPV data were enacted to both reduce participant discomfort and protect their confidentiality and safety. For example, women who were not alone during the time of interview were not asked IPV questions. These missing values were imputed to avoid biases of excluding these women as it is possible that these women may be in especially controlling relationships. Despite the limitations of self-reported data, this data is substantially more accurate than using data from police or health facility reports, as most women do not disclose to formal authorities [57].

Our social cohesion measure was not previously validated. Measures of social cohesion vary significantly between fields and studies; our study reflected often measured domains of social cohesion in international settings, including social support or connectedness, civic engagement, trust in individuals, trust in institutions, and stigma or discrimination, but did not include collective efficacy which may be especially important in the context of IPV [97, 157]. However, I conducted robust analysis to construct these latent variables. Furthermore, while not all social cohesion measures were correlated to IPV as hypothesized, they were significantly associated with social disorganization in the expected directions.

Sample size may have limited our ability to identify community-level predictors of IPV or moderators, as the sample was originally designed to meet the data requirements for an impact evaluation. Also, this sample is not representative of these two provinces in Ecuador, but of low-income homes in neighborhoods with a high percentage of low-income and Colombian households. As such, neighborhood variables were also constructed using a sample of the most vulnerable of the neighborhood. While aggregated neighborhood variables were weighted to account for oversampling of Colombian households, these were still not representative of the entire neighborhood in terms of SES. Furthermore, there was some differential attrition in our sample, but this does not appear to bias our main conclusions. Finally, our neighborhoods were defined by administrative units which may not reflect an accurate geographic boundary of women's communities [9].

Neighborhood-level indicators also represent a social context for Ecuadorian and Colombian women at a specific point in time. Since data was collected, Colombia's internal conflict has officially ended, with the signing of a peace treaty between the Colombian government and FARC in 2016. While substantial progress has been made in laying down arms and reintegrating former combatants, much of the accord remains to be implemented and significant violence still remains in Colombia [175]. According to the International Red Cross, other armed groups are clashing with the government and each other, in the aftermath of the peace agreements [188]. Further, neighboring Venezuela is suffering a social and economic crisis, with millions of Venezuelans migrating to Colombia, Ecuador and other countries. As such, I believe this research remains relevant.

#### Summary of strengths

This study benefits from many strengths. There is a dearth of research conducted in South American or conflict-affected communities in general that examine household and neighborhood level factors associated with IPV. Furthermore, two recent systematic reviews of community and neighborhoodlevel correlates of IPV documented very few studies conducted in this setting—only two in South America and none in conflict-affected areas [10, 14]. As such, our research fills an important gap in our knowledge about determinants of IPV in South America.

An important strength of this study lies in the marriage of a strong theoretical foundation with robust empirical analysis. The research questions and choice of predictors were driven by dominant theories, that are well suited to the study area. I also analyzed longitudinal data, whereas most IPV research has examined correlational associations. This allows us to make more robust inferences. In a recent review of studies that prospectively identified predictors of IPV, none of the 60 studies were conducted in South America and only seven of 71 measures were at the community-level [183]. Furthermore, many studies that focus on community or neighborhood level factors fail to account for clustering of participants, statistically speaking [10]. This study accounted for clustering at all stages of the analysis, including data imputation, exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis, and in our regression models.

## **Policy and Intervention Implications**

An additional strength of this research is its direct applicability to programming. For example, this research can contribute to the IOM, UNCHR and other international development agencies programming designed to improve the health and social outcomes among displaced people. These agencies already prioritize reducing displaced people's vulnerability, supporting access to safe housing, employment, health care and education, and integration into receiving communities. Our findings support incorporating IPV prevention and response programs into these services. Results suggest targeting neighborhoods characterized by high residential instability and encouraging civic engagement. Results also suggest that helping households avoid exposures to psychosocial stressors and discrimination, and increasing social support for families living in host communities can support IPV prevention and response efforts.

Our predictors are also in line with several of the UN's 2030 Sustainable Development Goals, including achieving gender equality, quality education, and peace, justice, and strong institutions. Results support strategies that increase gender equality and women's participation and achievement in higher education. Our findings that increases in household decision-making at both the household and neighborhood level were protective against IPV, suggest the need for multi-level interventions. For example, gender transformative programming actively works to help individuals develop more gender equitable views, beliefs and behaviors [189]. A growing evidence base has found these types of programming to be effective in increasing gender equitable norms and reducing IPV perpetration [178]. However, much of the gender transformative programming to implement gender equitable behavior, but lacking the support of their partners, families, or communities [190, 191]. Qualitative research in other settings suggest that a community-wide gender-transformative intervention can support shifts towards gender equitable norms and behaviors both in the household and the community, and that community-level changes support individual-level changes [181].

## Additional research

Our findings also highlight the need for additional research; 1) examining predictors through an intersectional lens; 2) conducting an in-depth look at predictors of IPV specifically among refugees; 3) refining measures of social cohesion; 4) continue building the literature of higher-level determinants of IPV using longitudinal data; 5) more closely examining the pathways between neighborhood-level factors and individual IPV outcomes; and 6) conducting research towards preventing adverse childhood exposures (ACEs) that foster IPV behaviors later in life.

#### Intersectionality

This dissertation tested feminist theory and social disorganization theory separately. However, social disorganization, cohesion and psychosocial stressors and supports do not exist in isolation from gender inequality. An intersectional framework orients research around social identities, in which individual experience (e.g. gender, SES, citizenship) reflect multiple, interlocking systems of power at the social-structural level (e.g. sexism, classism, xenophobia) [137, 192, 193]. This is a particularly pertinent framework in which to explore predictors of IPV among poor and refugee women as it explicitly highlights that social structures influence health beyond the individual's behavior or characteristic. This orientation also aligns closely with Heise's ecological model's prioritization of identifying predictors at multiple levels and examining how they interact with each other.

## In-depth analysis of experiences of migrant and refugee women

Results show that neighborhood social disorganization and residential stability were marginally positively associated with IPV, but household mobility was negatively associated with emotional IPV. This analysis did not include the reason for migration, years since migration, or adversities experienced during migration; doing so would have reduced the sample size by two-thirds and substantially reduced our statistical power to examine the main aims. However, these likely significantly influence IPV and merit further research. Exposure to conflict-related trauma, migration, and psychosocial stressors in resettlement have been associated with significant physical and mental health outcomes, including death, disability, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, increased substance use, and, in adolescents, externalizing behaviors (e.g. defiance, aggression and anti-social behavior) [13, 87, 110,

162-165]. There are also significant economic consequences, with many refugees and displaced people experiencing a "deep deterioration of their quality of life"—losing all of their resources, risking exploitation or theft in every stage of migration, and under-employment in the host communities [85, 164, 170, 171]. Additionally, families are often separated for long periods of times and experience 'disintegration' because of the stressors of conflict and migration [194]. A synthesis of literature exploring the impacts of displacement on family units found that migration resulted in changes in gender roles, loss of social networks and support, and reduced SES—these changes were associated with abuse and divorce for some couples [88]. With over 68 million displaced people worldwide, focusing specifically on risk and protective factors of IPV among this population is critical [52].

#### Refining community-level variables

The field of neighborhood and community level factors that influence individual level IPV is relatively nascent. As previously mentioned, there is particularly limited research looking at these factors in South America or conflicted-affected areas. Further, there are very few studies that have used longitudinal data to explore how changes in these higher-level factors can influence individual level IPV. We explored several neighborhood-level factors associated with IPV. Five of the hypothesized neighborhood level variables had statistically significant, or marginally significant, associations with IPV in the expected direction, while other predicted neighborhood-level factors, such as female labor force participation, average female asset ownership, and other social disorganization and cohesion measures, were not significantly associated with IPV. As previously discussed, this could be a result of not capturing the relevant domain of social cohesion. Refining measures that capture community-level latent variables, such as gender equality, empowerment, and social cohesion, will further our understanding of how larger, societal shifts influence IPV.

## Pathways between neighborhood constructs and individual-level outcomes

Furthermore, how neighborhood constructs influence individual outcomes is not well understood. For example, we treated neighborhood change in average of female-involved household decision-making as one proxy measure for changes in the general status of women. We found that it was negatively associated with emotional IPV. However, we are not able to directly examine the mechanisms that drive

the protective association between neighborhood average decision-making and IPV, above and beyond household-level changes in female-involved decision-making. From a theoretical perspective, societal shifts in household dynamics may serve to elevate the status of women, and issues that affect women disproportionally—like IPV. In turn, this may reduce the acceptability of violence against women and garner resources and political will to prevent IPV. Measuring and analyzing potential mediators between neighborhood factors and individual level IPV outcomes, such as attitudes towards violence and gender equitable norms, can test that hypothesis. We also found that residential instability was marginally positively associated with IPV but that social cohesion did not act as a mediator, as was originally hypothesized. Future research can explore potential alternative pathways between residential instability and IPV. Finally, while we did not find any neighborhood level variables that moderated the relationship between household-level factors and individual IPV outcomes, theory posits that contextual factors are extremely influential. Further research on contextual moderators can help us identify what factors are harmful or protective in various settings.

#### Prioritizing prevention of adverse childhood exposures (ACEs)

This dissertation was not able examine adverse childhood exposures (ACEs), such as emotional, physical or sexual violence victimization or witnessing violence in their home or community. These are critical risk factors for IPV, and are associated with many other serious health issues such as injury, depression, substance use, and suicidality [195, 196]. To date, most research on the relationship between ACEs and IPV have been conducted in high-income settings, with less known about the relationship in low and middle-income countries [195]. With the roll out of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Violence Against Children surveys, the field is dramatically increasing its understanding of ACEs globally [196]. Emerging data suggest violence against children impacts an enormous number of children globally, that prevalence estimates vary widely between countries, and sequalae are consistent across settings [197-201]. While traditionally violence-related research has been conducted in silos, there is an increasing movement towards understanding how multiple forms of violence are related, and what prevention strategies can simultaneously address ACEs, IPV and other forms of violence. Effectively addressing IPV in South America and conflict-affected and host communities requires prioritizing prevention of ACEs. Future research is critical to informing these efforts.

## Conclusions

This research contributes to our understanding of IPV and serves to refine and develop effective prevention and response programming for particularly vulnerable women. In line with international development and health agencies, we focused on the status of women and the impacts of living in conflict-affected and host communities. Results support investing in strategies to increase women's participation and achievement in higher education, and shifting gender norms to create more equitable households and neighborhoods. As South America, and other parts of the world, experience unprecedented mass migration, this research also underscores the importance of integrating IPV prevention and response programs into services in conflict-affected areas and host communities. Specifically, findings support promoting civic engagement, mitigating exposures to psychosocial stressors and discrimination, and increasing social support for low-income families living in host communities.

# **APPENDIX A. TABLES**

Table 1: Description of Aim 1 key measures Variable Description Intimate partner violence (dependent variable, time 2) Intimate partner violence in the Thirteen measures of physical, sexual, or emotional intimate partner violence that last six months (time 2) occurred in the last six months. This was be dichotomized as yes/no. "When two people are married or live together, they usually have good and bad moments. Has your spouse/partner: accused you of infidelity; tried to strangle you; utilized force to have sex when you didn't want to" [141, 142]. Household Variables (independent variables, time 1) Economic Stability Household socio-economic Following Demographic Health Survey guidance, a score of household wealth was constructed from a series of questions regarding the household asset data such as status physical infrastructure of the house (household construction material, material of the flooring, number of rooms in the house, electricity, type of electricity, cooking type, type of bathroom, and type of water consumed), and ownership of land, tools, animals and 11 consumer items (cell phones, TVs, etc.) [47, 202]. Food security Food security was measured by using the food consumption score based on dietary diversity, food frequency, and relative nutritional importance [203]. Female/male labor participation A participant was considered as participating in the labor force if they indicated that had 1) farmed their own land; 2) worked in an agricultural position for pay; 3) worked in a nonagricultural position for pay; or 4) worked on non-agricultural activities, on their own, like a small business, in the last six months. Psychosocial Stressors and Supports Psychosocial stressors in the Number of adverse situations (out of 13) in the last 6 months and 6-12 months ago that last 6 months has affected the household; as this was only measured at time 2, the 6-12-month

last 6 monthshas affected the household; as this was only measured at time 2, the 6-12-month<br/>measure serves as a proxy for time 1 measures. Indicators included: robbed of cash;<br/>robbed of food; robbed of other goods; death of male adult household members; death of<br/>female adult household members; permanent debilitating injuries or illness of household<br/>member; physical attack; drought or flood; destruction of property or land due to natural<br/>disaster; destruction of property due to violence; alcoholism or drug addiction of family<br/>member; job loss or failed business; prison for household member.Discrimination in the last six<br/>monthsCoded as yes if participant responded positively to any one or ten questions about<br/>experiencing discrimination based on different characteristics (gender, race, SES, etc.).<br/>Each question began with: "Has anyone in the house felt discriminated against because<br/>of their [e.g. nationality]?" Indicators included: race; gender; economic status; occupation;

political affiliation; disability; nationality; religion; appearance; other.

Civic engagement	Coded as yes if participant indicated household participation in 1) agricultural or business associations, 2) religious or spiritual groups, 3) community or neighborhood associations, 4) political groups, and/or 5) other groups (e.g. NGOs, education or cultural).
Social support	Participants were asked: If you needed \$100 in the case of an emergency, how many people (outside the household) could you ask for help?
Migration history	Household moved to the neighborhood in the last 20 years (yes/no)
Male/Female Nationality	Whether the individual is Ecuador or Colombian
Neighborhood Variables <sup>1</sup> (indep	endent variables, time 1)
Social Disorganization	Neighborhood SES (neighborhood average of household SES scores)
	Percent of female-headed households in the neighborhood
	Percent of owner-occupied housing in the neighborhood
	Percent of households moving to the neighborhood in the last 20 years
	Neighborhood average of reported household psychosocial stressors
Social Cohesion (see Table 6)	Trust in individuals (aggregated household factor score)
	Trust in institutions and community connectedness (aggregated household factor score)
	Percent of reporting recent civic engagement
	Percent of households reporting experiences of discrimination
	Neighborhood social support (neighborhood average of household-level indicator of social support)

1. Neighborhood variables constructed from entire sample (n=2357) and weighted to adjust for oversampling of Colombian households

Table 2: Description of Aim 2 key measures

Variable	Description
Intimate partner violence (dependent v	variable)
Intimate partner violence in the last six months (time 2)	Thirteen measures of physical, sexual, or emotional intimate partner violence that occurred in the last six months. This was dichotomized as yes/no. "When two people are married or live together, they usually have good and bad moments." Example questions: Has your spouse/partner: accused you of infidelity; tried to strangle you; utilized force to have sex when you didn't want to" [141, 142]
Status of women (independent variable	es)
Age	Female Age
	Age difference (Male – female)
Education	Highest level of female education, dichotomized: Secondary or above; Primary or below
	Difference in educational attainment between male and female partner (female lower vs female same or higher)
	Neighborhood percent of women with secondary education or higher1
Access to resources	Household SES: Following Demographic Health Survey guidance, a score of household wealth was constructed from a series of questions regarding the household asset data such as physical infrastructure of the house (household construction material, material of the flooring, number of rooms in the house, electricity, type of electricity, cooking type, type of bathroom, and type of water consumed), and ownership of land, tools, animals and 11 consumer items (cell phones, TVs, etc.) [47, 202]
	Food security: was measured by using the food consumption score based on dietary diversity, food frequency, and relative nutritional importance [203]
	Female labor force participation: A participant was considered as participating in the labor force if they indicated that had 1) farmed their own land; 2) worked in an agricultural position for pay; 3) worked in a non-agricultural position for pay; or 4) worked on non-agricultural activities, on their own, like a small business, in the last six months.
	Female earnings compared to male earnings
	Percent of household assets' value owned by women per IFPRI's guidelines on collecting and analyzing gender and assets data [204]
	Neighborhood average percent of assets' value owned by women <sup>1</sup>
	Average female labor participation in neighborhood <sup>1</sup>
	Neighborhood percent of women reporting earning the same or more earnings compared to their partner <sup>1</sup>

Household decision makingHousehold shared decision-making was measured with a series of four questions<br/>about who makes the final decisions about eight household issues such as<br/>finances, employment, education, health care utilization, childcare, and<br/>contraceptive use [42, 46, 177]. Calculated as the percent of domains in which the<br/>female partner has some say (e.g. responded with herself or jointly) in decision-<br/>makingNeighborhood average female-involved decision-making1

1. Neighborhood variables constructed from entire sample (n=2357) and weighted to adjust for oversampling of Colombian households

Table 3: Aim 1 sample characteristics (at time 1) of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee households in northern Ecuador (n=1312)

	n	%
Female demographics		
Female age (mean years)		35.91
Female highest education level		
Primary or less	827	62.99
Secondary or higher	486	37.01
Female headed households	28	2.13
Female nationality <sup>1</sup>		
Ecuadorian	836	63.67
Colombian	477	36.33
Household characteristics		
Moved to neighborhood in last 20 years	561	42.73
Female participation in labor force <sup>2</sup>	427	32.52
Male participation in labor force <sup>2</sup>	1252	95.43
Experienced discrimination in the last six months <sup>3</sup>	499	38.00
Number of psychosocial stressors experienced in the last six months (mean) <sup>4</sup>		0.30
Participated in community activities in last six months	661	50.34
Number of people can ask to borrow \$100 (mean)		1.90
Neighborhood (n=80) <sup>5</sup>		
Percent of female headed households		1.86
Percent of renters		58.35
Residential instability <sup>6</sup>		42.83

1. Due to the small number of female participants reporting Ecuadorian-Colombian nationality (n=39), those participants were included with Ecuadorians; the small number of participants reporting "other" as their nationality (n=11) were included with Colombians

2. Participants were as categorized participating in the labor force if they responded yes to any of the following questions: In the last six months have you 1) farmed your own land; 2) worked in an agricultural position for pay; 3) worked in a non-agricultural position for pay; or 4) worked on non-agricultural activities, on their own, like a small business

3. Discrimination based on: race; gender; economic status; occupation; political affiliation; disability; nationality; religion; appearance; and/or other

4. Psychosocial stressors include: robbed of cash; robbed of food; robbed of other goods; death of male adult household members; permanent debilitating injuries or illness of household member; physical attack; drought or flood; destruction of property or land due to natural disaster; destruction of property due to violence; alcoholism or drug addiction of family member; job loss or failed business; prison for household member

5. Neighborhood variables weighted to extrapolate to the full eligible sample of the cash, voucher and food transfer program

6. Percent of households moving to the neighborhood in the last 20 years

	n	%
Any psychosocial stressor in the last six months	303	23.08
Robbed of cash	27	2.06
Robbed of food	11	0.84
Robbed of other goods	48	3.66
Death of male adult household members	2	0.15
Death of female adult household members	0	0.00
Permanent debilitating injuries or illness of household member	144	10.97
Physical attack	6	0.46
Drought or flood	49	3.73
Destruction of property or land due to natural disaster	22	1.68
Destruction of property due to violence	5	0.38
Alcoholism or drug addiction of family member	32	2.44
Job loss or failed business	38	2.89
Prison for household member	6	0.46
Any discrimination in the last six months	499	38.00
Race	67	5.10
Gender	39	2.97
Economic Status	314	23.91
Occupation	161	12.26
Political Affiliation	52	3.96
Disability	109	8.30
Nationality	180	13.71
Religion	84	6.40
Appearance	53	4.04
Other	26	1.98

Table 4: Psychosocial stressors (at time 1) among a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee households in northern Ecuador (n=1312)

	Time 1 (	n=1266)	Time 2	(n=1285)
	n	%	n	%
Any emotional IPV in the last six months	363	28.67	378	29.42
Accused of infidelity	132	10.43	158	12.30
Limited contact with friends or family	140	11.06	150	11.67
Humiliated or insulted you	262	20.70	275	21.40
Threatened to leave you	170	13.43	178	13.85
Threatened to take away your children	80	6.32	95	7.39
Any physical and/or sexual IPV in the last six months	202	15.96	201	15.64
Pushed, shook or threw something at you	154	12.16	135	10.51
Slapped you or twisted your arm	93	7.35	100	7.78
Hit you with a fist or something that could hurt you	77	6.08	86	6.69
Kicked or dragged you	46	3.63	67	5.21
Tried to strangle or burn you	10	0.79	32	2.49
Attacked you with a knife, gun or other type of weapon	3	0.24	16	1.25
Threatened you with a knife, gun or other type of weapon	11	0.87	10	0.78
Used physical force to force you to have sex	36	2.84	45	3.50
Forced you to perform sexual acts that you did not want to do	26	2.05	31	2.41

Table 5: Recent IPV among a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee households in northern Ecuador

Note: missings not imputed

	Estimate	SE	Est./SE	
Trust in individuals				
I can trust most people	0.57	0.02	26.13	***
I can count on my neighbor to send an important letter	0.94	0.02	53.45	***
I can count on my neighbor to take care of my house if I am away	0.83	0.02	44.14	***
Trust in institutions and community connectedness				
The government would help my family if I had an emergency situation	0.35	0.03	12.27	***
I have the right to basic social assistance such as health and education	0.53	0.05	9.86	***
If I am qualified for a job, I have the same chances as the rest to get it	0.39	0.03	11.48	***
If I am a victim of a crime, I can go to the police for help	0.41	0.04	11.03	***
Cultural diversity is good	0.44	0.03	15.64	***
People of different nationalities coexist well in my community	0.36	0.04	9.66	***
I feel part of the community	0.82	0.03	28.29	***
I have the space to participate in the decisions of my community	0.58	0.03	17.44	***
Experiences of discrimination				
Race	0.78	0.03	24.52	***
Gender	0.83	0.03	29.23	***
SES	0.84	0.02	40.86	***
Occupation	0.85	0.02	40.94	***
Political Affiliation	0.74	0.03	22.11	***
Disability	0.64	0.04	17.51	***
Nationality	0.61	0.04	15.33	***
Religion	0.70	0.05	14.96	***
Appearance	0.76	0.04	21.88	***
Other	0.65	0.06	10.38	***
Civic Engagement				
Agriculture Groups	0.48	0.06	8.31	***
Religion	0.48	0.04	12.04	***
Neighborhood	0.74	0.06	12.88	***
Political	0.68	0.07	10.30	***
Other	0.26	0.05	4.82	***
Covariates				
Trust in individuals on respondent gender	-0.05	0.04	-1.38	
Trust in institutions on respondent gender	-0.04	0.03	-1.40	
"I can trust most people" on respondent gender	-0.07	0.03	-2.39	*
"I can count on my neighbor to send an important letter" on respondent gender	-0.03	0.02	-1.26	

Table 6: Standardized results of social cohesion confirmatory factor analysis (n=2,357)

Factor correlations				
Trust in individuals with				
Discrimination	-0.05	0.03	-1.59	
Community participation	0.20	0.03	5.76	***
Trust in institutions with				
Discrimination	-0.23	0.03	-7.70	***
Community participation	0.34	0.06	5.86	***
Trust in individuals	0.18	0.04	4.89	***
Discrimination with				
Community participation	0.13	0.05	2.52	*
Indicators of model fit				
RMSEA	0.02			
CFI	0.92			
TLI	0.91			
SRMR	0.07			

\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<.001 SE: Standard error. Estimates generated with weighted least square parameter estimator

	Social Disorganization	)	Residential instability		Percent of renters		Percent of female headed households		Neighborhood average wealth	)		Community Adversity	Combined Social Cohesion Score		Trust in individuals		Trust in institutions and community	5	Discrimination		Community Participation	-
Combined Social Disorganization		**																				
Residential instability <sup>1</sup>	0.36	*	1.00	**																		
Percent of renters	0.90	*	0.26	*	1.00																	
Percent of female headed households	0.48	** *	0.17	** *	0.29	** * **	1.00	**														
wealth	0.61	*	0.08	** **	0.39	* **	0.31	* **	1.00													
Community adversity <sup>2</sup>	0.15	**	0.22	*	0.26	* **	0.11	* **	0.06	* **	1.00											
Score	0.33	*	0.05	**	0.26	*	0.23	*	0.36	*	0.08	** **	1.00	**								
Trust in individuals	0.11	**	0.35	*	0.09	**	0.08	**	0.04		0.11	*	0.56	*	1.00							
Trust in institutions and community connectedness	0.33	** * **	- 0.07	* **	- 0.24	** * **	- 0.07	* **	0.37	** * **	- 0.04		0.72	** * **	0.05	**	1.00	**				
Discrimination	0.23	* **	0.21	*	0.17	* **	0.26	* **	0.19	* **	0.06	* **	0.49	* **	0.17	* **	0.34	* **	1.00	**		
Community participation	0.41	*	0.05	**	0.36	*	0.13	*	0.40 -	*	0.21	* **	0.72	*	0.54 -	* **	0.50	*	0.12	* **	1.00	**
Social support <sup>2</sup>	0.09	**	0.27	*	0.01		0.08	*	0.01		0.24	*	0.03		0.11	*	0.03		0.10	*	0.12	*

# Table 7: Pairwise correlation coefficients for social disorganization and social cohesion factors

\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<.001

1. Percent of households moving to the neighborhood in the last 20 years

2. "Community adversity" included separately from overarching social disorganization measure

3. "Social support" included separately from overarching social cohesion measure

	Мо	del 1a			Mode	l 1b		Model 1c					
	OR 95% CI				<u>OR 9</u>	5% <u>CI</u>			OR 95% CI				
Intercept	3.69	1.06	12.91		3.36	0.94	11.93		3.83	1.09	13.49		
Economic Indicators													
Female participation in labor force <sup>1</sup>	1.17	0.91	1.51		1.20	0.93	1.56		1.19	0.93	1.53		
Male participation in labor force <sup>1</sup>	1.31	0.62	2.77		1.31	0.61	2.80		1.31	0.61	2.78		
Household wealth <sup>2</sup>	1.16	1.01	1.33		1.16	1.01	1.32		1.16	1.02	1.33		
Food Consumption Score <sup>3</sup>	1.01	1.00	1.01		1.01	1.00	1.01		1.01	1.00	1.01		
Psychosocial stressors and supports													
Number of psychosocial stressors in the	1 20	1 1 2	1 60	**	1 27	1 10	1 60	**	1 27	1 1 2	1 60 **		
Experienced discrimination in the last six	1.30	1.13	1.09		1.37	1.12	1.00		1.37	1.13	1.00		
months	1.49	1.12	2.00	**	1.49	1.12	2.00	**	1.49	1.11	1.99 **		
Participated in community activities in last	4 00	0 77	4.04		1 00	0 77	4 00		4.04	0 77	4 00		
six months	1.00	0.77	1.31	÷	1.00	0.77	1.30	*	1.01	0.77	1.32		
Number of people can ask to borrow \$100	0.95	0.91	1.00	^	0.95	0.91	1.00	^	0.95	0.91	1.00 *		
Migration-related indicators													
(Colombian=1; Ecuadorian=0) Male Nationality	0.96	0.64	1.44		0.95	0.64	1.42		0.98	0.65	1.47		
(Colombian=1; Ecuadorian=0)	0.92	0.59	1.43		0.93	0.60	1.44		0.96	0.62	1.49		
Moved to neighborhood in last 20 years	0.68	0.47	1.00		0.69	0.47	1.01		0.67	0.46	0.97 *		
Neighborhood⁵													
Social Disorganization <sup>6</sup>	1.17	0.99	1.38						1.08	0.91	1.28		
Community Adversity <sup>7</sup>	0.76	0.32	1.77		0.91	0.39	2.13						
Community Wealth <sup>6</sup> Percent of Female Headed					0.98	0.83	1.15						
Households <sup>7</sup>					0.98	0.84	1.16						
Percent of Renters <sup>7</sup>					0.99	0.90	1.10						
Residential Instability <sup>7,8</sup>					1.10	0.98	1.23						
Social Cohesion <sup>6</sup>	1.07	0.91	1.26										
Social Support	0.98	0.85	1.12		0.95	0.83	1.09						
Trust in Individuals <sup>6</sup>					1.04	0.86	1.28						
Trust in Institutions <sup>6</sup>					1.25	1.07	1.47	*					
Experiences of Discrimination <sup>7</sup>					1.02	0.88	1.17						
Civic Engagement <sup>7</sup>					0.84	0.74	0.96	*	0.35	0.13	0.93		

Table 8: Aim 1 predictors (at time 1) of emotional intimate partner violence (at time 2) among a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women (n=1312)

Mediation								
Social Disorganization								
on Social Cohesion	0.76	0.60	0.96	*				
Social Disorganization on								
Neighborhood Civic Engagement					0.94	0.91	0.98 **	
Indirect Effect	0.98	0.94	1.03		1.06	1.00	1.14	
Model Fit								
AIC (lower is better)	1603.	85		1364.14		1303.8	8	
BIC (lower is better)	1748.	85		1524.68		1438.5	2	

\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

Model notes: Missing data imputed; all model use multilevel modeling to account for hierarchal structure; maximum likelihood parameter estimates with standard errors robust to non-normality and non-independence of observations are presented; all models controlled for emotional and physical/sexual IPV at time 1, female age, female education, province, and treatment group

1. Participants were as categorized participating in the labor force if they responded yes to any of the following questions: In the last six months have you 1) farmed your own land; 2) worked in an agricultural position for pay; 3) worked in a non-agricultural position for pay; or 4) worked on non-agricultural activities, on their own, like a small business

2. Constructed as recommended by the Demographic Health Survey using principal component analysis of source of drinking water, type of toilet, sharing of toilet facilities, material of principal floor, walls, roof, cooking fuel, and household services and possessions, such as electricity, TV, radio, types of vehicles, agricultural land size owned, and type and number of animals owned

3. Calculated by summing the number of days eight different food groups were consumed by a household, multiplying these by weighted frequencies, and summing across food groups

4. Due to the small number of participants reporting Ecuadorian-Colombian nationality (female: n=39; males: n=18), those participants were included with Ecuadorians; the small number of participants reporting "other" as their nationality (females: n=11, males: n=5) were included with Colombians

5. Neighborhood variables weighted to extrapolate to the full eligible sample of the cash and voucher program; all neighborhood variables grand-mean centered

6. Standardized to reflect a change in odds ratio per one standard deviation change in predictor

7. Scaled to reflect change in odds ratio per 10% change in predictor

8. Percent of households moving to the neighborhood in the last 20 years

	Mode	el 2a		Мо	del 2b		Model 2c			
	OR	95% CI		OR 9	5% CI		OR	95% (		
Intercept	1.51	0.28	8.20	1.27	0.24	6.80	1.77	0.33	9.51	
Economic Indicators										
Female participation in labor force <sup>1</sup>	1.01	0.69	1.49	1.01	0.69	1.47	1.02	0.70	1.50	
Male participation in labor force <sup>1</sup>	0.57	0.23	1.41	0.55	0.22	1.34	0.57	0.23	1.44	
Household wealth <sup>2</sup>	1.04	0.86	1.25	1.04	0.86	1.25	1.03	0.86	1.24	
Food Consumption Score <sup>3</sup>	1.00	0.99	1.01	1.00	0.99	1.01	1.00	0.99	1.01	
Psychosocial stressors and supports										
Number of psychosocial stressors in the last six months	1 63	1 25	2 12 **	1.63	1 25	2 12 **	1 64	1 26	2 15 **	
Experienced discrimination in the last six	1.00	1.20	2.12	1.00	1.20	2.12	1.04	1.20	2.10	
months	1.58	1.13	2.23 **	1.60	1.14	2.25 **	1.58	1.12	2.23 **	
Participated in community activities in last six months	0 88	0.62	1 24	0.87	0.62	1 23	0.87	0.62	1 23	
Number of people cap ask to borrow \$100	0.00	0.02	1.24	0.07	0.02	1.20	0.07	0.02	1.20	
	0.00	0.00	1.01	0.00	0.00	1.01	0.00	0.50	1.01	
Migration-related indicators										
Female Nationality	0 77	0 47	1 26	0 75	0.46	1 22	0.76	0 47	1 22	
Male Nationality	0.11	0.47	1.20	0.75	0.40	1.22	0.70	0.47	1.22	
(Colombian=1; Ecuadorian=0)	1.15	0.67	1.98	1.10	0.64	1.88	1.18	0.68	2.04	
Moved to neighborhood in last 20 years	0.74	0.48	1.14	0.77	0.50	1.18	0.74	0.48	1.15	
Neighborhood⁵										
Social Disorganization <sup>6</sup>	1.20	0.96	1.51				1.17	0.95	1.44	
Community Adversity <sup>7</sup>	1.98	0.72	5.45	1.81	0.57	5.75				
Community Wealth <sup>6</sup>				1.02	0.83	1.25				
Percent of Female Headed Households <sup>7</sup>				1.04	0.85	1.27				
Percent of Renters <sup>7</sup>				0.99	0.87	1.12				
Residential Instability <sup>7,8</sup>				1.13	0.98	1.30				
Social Cohesion <sup>6</sup>	0.95	0.75	1.21							
Social Support	0.92	0.77	1.10	0.91	0.77	1.07				
Trust in Individuals <sup>6</sup>				1.14	0.86	1.51				
Trust in Institutions <sup>6</sup>				0.99	0.83	1.20				
Experiences of Discrimination <sup>7</sup>				1.01	0.86	1.19				
Civic Engagement <sup>7</sup>				0.85	0.72	1.00	0.55	0.14	2.20	

Table 9: Aim 1 predictors (at time 1) of physical and/or sexual intimate partner violence (at time 2) among a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women (n=1312)

)8 **
3
18

\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

Model notes: Missing data imputed; all model use multilevel modeling to account for hierarchal structure; maximum likelihood parameter estimates with standard errors robust to non-normality and non-independence of observations are presented; all models controlled for emotional and physical/sexual IPV at time 1, female age, female education, province, and treatment group

1. Participants were as categorized participating in the labor force if they responded yes to any of the following questions: In the last six months have you 1) farmed your own land; 2) worked in an agricultural position for pay; 3) worked in a non-agricultural position for pay; or 4) worked on non-agricultural activities, on their own, like a small business

2. Constructed as recommended by the Demographic Health Survey using principal component analysis of source of drinking water, type of toilet, sharing of toilet facilities, material of principal floor, walls, roof, cooking fuel, and household services and possessions, such as electricity, TV, radio, types of vehicles, agricultural land size owned, and type and number of animals owned

3. Calculated by summing the number of days eight different food groups were consumed by a household, multiplying these by weighted frequencies, and summing across food groups

4. Due to the small number of participants reporting Ecuadorian-Colombian nationality, those participants were included with Ecuadorians; the small number of participants reporting "other" as their nationality were included with Colombians

5. Neighborhood variables weighted to extrapolate to the full eligible sample of the cash and voucher program; all neighborhood variables grand-mean centered

6. Standardized to reflect a change in odds ratio per one standard deviation change in predictor

7. Scaled to reflect change in odds ratio per 10% change in predictor

8. Percent of households moving to the neighborhood in the last 20 years

		%
Female		
Age (Mean years) (T1)		35.91
Highest Education Level (T1)		
Primary or less	827	62.99
Secondary or higher	486	37.01
Female headed households (T1)	28	2.13
Labor force participation <sup>1</sup> (T1)	427	32.52
Lost employment	145	11.04
Gained employment	183	13.94
Nationality <sup>2</sup>		
Ecuadorian	836	63.67
Colombian	477	36.33
Value of female-owned assets (USD) <sup>3</sup> (T1)		107.52
Average change in female-owned assets (USD)		-104.96
Partner		
Age (Mean years) (T1)		39.61
Highest Education Level (T1)		
Primary or less	828	63.06
Secondary or higher	484	36.86
Labor force participation <sup>1</sup> (T1)	1252	95.43
Lost employment	29	2.21
Gained employment	34	2.59
Household		
Age difference (mean years) (T1)		3.70
Educational difference (T1)		
Female higher education	206	15.69
Female less education	227	17.29
Same education	880	67.02
Earning difference		
Female earns less at both time points	896	74.67
Female earns same or more at both time points	65	5.42
Female started earning less between time points	119	9.92
Female started earning same or more between time points	120	10.00
Percent of assets owned by female (T1)		33.42
Change in percent of assets owned by female		3.50
Percent of decision-making with female involvement across 8 domains (T1)		81.23
Change in percent of decision-making with female involvement		-1.40

Table 10: Aim 2 characteristics of a sample of poor Ecuadorian and Colombian refugee women (n=1312)

# Neighborhood<sup>5</sup> (n=80)

Percent of females with secondary education or higher (T1)	42.02
Average percent of female owned assets (T1)	45.89
Change in average percent of female owned assets	2.90
Percent of females participating in labor force (T1)	40.26
Change in percent of female labor force participation	1.70
Neighborhood percent of women who earn the same or more than their partners (T1)	15.55
Change in neighborhood percent of women who earn the same or more than their partners	1.11
Neighborhood average female household decision-making (T1)	86.10
Change in neighborhood average female household decision-making	-1.38

T1: Time 1

1. Participants were categorized as employed if they responded yes to any of the following questions: In the last six months have you 1) farmed your own land; 2) worked in an agricultural position for pay; 3) worked in a non-agricultural position for pay; or 4) worked on non-agricultural activities, on their own, like a small business

2. Due to the small number of participants reporting Ecuadorian-Colombian nationality, those participants were included with Ecuadorians; the small number of participants reporting "other" as their nationality were included with Colombians

3. Assets include: land, large and small animals, agricultural tools, household appliances, computers, cell phones, bikes and vehicles

4. Constructed as recommended by the Demographic Health Survey using principal component analysis of source of drinking water, type of toilet, sharing of toilet facilities, material of principal floor, walls, roof, cooking fuel, and household services and possessions, such as electricity, TV, radio, types of vehicles, agricultural land size owned, and type and number of animals owned

5. Neighborhood variables weighted to extrapolate to the full eligible sample of the cash, voucher and food transfer program

	Emotional IPV OR 95% CI				Physical and/or Sexual IPV OR 95% CI			/
Intercept	7.39	1.45	37.56	***	0.67	0.11	3.90	
Individual								
Female age (years) (T1)	0.99	0.97	1.00		0.98	0.97	1.00	*
Female educational achievement (secondary or more=1; Less than secondary=0) (T1)	0.70	0.49	0.99	*	0.95	0.58	1.54	
Female labor force participation <sup>1</sup> (T1)	1.26	0.89	1.78		1.36	0.88	2.12	
Change in female labor force participation								
Loss	1.04	0.69	1.58		0.91	0.45	1.83	
Gain	0.95	0.63	1.43		1.75	1.17	2.63	**
Female-owned assets (value) <sup>2</sup> (T1)	0.98	0.87	1.10		0.97	0.85	1.11	
Change in female-owned assets	0.96	0.83	1.10		1.01	0.87	1.17	
Partner/Household								
Household wealth <sup>3</sup> (T1)	1.14	1.01	1.30	*	1.01	0.83	1.22	
Change in household wealth	1.11	0.78	1.59		1.23	0.78	1.95	
Food consumption score <sup>4</sup> (T1)	1.01	1.00	1.02		0.99	0.98	1.00	
Change in food consumption score	1.00	0.99	1.01		0.99	0.98	1.00	
Male labor force participation (T1)	1.33	0.42	4.14		0.32	0.11	0.97	*
Change in male labor force participation								
Loss	1.22	0.50	2.96		0.33	0.04	2.44	
Gain	0.70	0.17	2.92		0.33	0.07	1.45	
Relational								
Age Difference (gap in years) (T1)	1.01	0.99	1.03		0.98	0.95	1.01	
Education Difference (Male has higher edu=1; Female has equal or more=0) (T1)	1.71	1.22	2.42	**	1.57	1.08	2.28	**
Earning Difference (Female earns equal or more=1; Male earns more=0) (T1)	0.88	0.49	1.58		0.67	0.35	1.27	
Change in earning difference	1.16	0.75	1.80		1.26	0.75	2.13	
Percent of female -owned value of assets (T1)	0.90	0.46	1.80		1.08	0.50	2.32	
Change in percent of female-owned value of assets	1.26	0.80	1.98		1.30	0.83	2.06	
Percent of female household decision-making <sup>5</sup> (T1)	0.91	0.36	2.30		0.74	0.29	1.86	
Change in female's household decision-making	0.57	0.30	1.06		0.41	0.21	0.78	**
<b>Neighborhood</b> <sup>6</sup> Province (Sucumbíos=0; Carchi=1)	1.77	1.13	2.75	*	0.94	0.58	1.54	
Neighborhood percent of women with secondary education or higher (T1)	0.90	0.78	1.03		1.02	0.83	1.26	
Neighborhood percent of women participating in labor force (T1)	1.06	0.83	1.35		1.10	0.85	1.42	

Table 11: Aim 2 predictors of recent intimate partner violence in a sample of poor Ecuadorian and refugee Colombian women (n=1312)

Change in neighborhood average female labor force participation	0.99	0.79	1.24	0.95	0.72	1.25
Neighborhood average of percent of household assets owned by women (T1)	1.06	0.86	1.29	1.06	0.83	1.36
Change in average percent of household assets owned by women	1.03	0.85	1.26	1.07	0.85	1.34
Neighborhood percent of women who earn the same or more than their partners (T1)	1.13	0.97	1.32	1.09	0.86	1.38
Change in neighborhood percent of women who earn the same or more than their partners	1.06	0.92	1.22	1.01	0.83	1.24
Neighborhood average female household decision- making (T1)	0.77	0.55	1.08	0.90	0.59	1.39
Model Fit						
AIC (lower is better)	1400.46			1015.66		
BIC (lower is better)	1602.45			1217.66		

\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

T1: Time 1

Model notes: Missing data imputed; all models control for IPV at time 1, treatment assignment, head of household gender, female nationality; multilevel modeling used to account for hierarchal structure

1. Participants were categorized participating in the labor force if they responded yes to any of the following questions: In the last six months have you 1) farmed your own land; 2) worked in an agricultural position for pay; 3) worked in a non-agricultural position for pay; or 4) worked on non-agricultural activities, on their own, like a small business

2. Female assets transformed using inverse hyperbolic sine (IHS). Assets include: land, large and small animals, agricultural tools, household appliances, computers, cell phones, bikes and vehicles

3. Constructed as recommended by the Demographic Health Survey, using principal component analysis of source of drinking water, type of toilet, sharing of toilet facilities, material of principal floor, walls, roof, cooking fuel, and household services and possessions, such as electricity, TV, radio, types of vehicles, agricultural land size owned, and type and number of animals owned

4. Calculated by summing the number of days eight different food groups were consumed by a household, multiplying these by weighted frequencies, and summing across food groups.

5. Percent of decision-making domains (out of eight) in which the female partner has some or total decision-making authority

6. Neighborhood variables weighted to extrapolate to the full eligible sample of the cash and voucher program; scaled to reflect change in odds ratio per 10% change in predictor; and grand-mean centered



# APPENDIX B. MAP OF TREATMENT AND CONTROL STUDY SITES

	Aim 1 attrition regression analysis of key indicators at t					
	Coefficient	S.E.		Coefficient	S.E.	
Emotional IPV	0.31	0.18		0.33	0.17	
Physical and/or Sexual IPV	0.10	0.25		0.09	0.25	
Economic Indicators						
Female participation in labor force	0.18	0.16		0.17	0.17	
Male participation in labor force	-0.51	0.35		-0.47	0.34	
Household wealth	-0.06	0.07		-0.05	0.08	
Food Consumption Score	0.00	0.00		0.00	0.00	
Psychosocial stressors and supports						
Experienced discrimination in the last six months	0.00	0.18		0.04	0.18	
Participated in community activities in last six months	-0.27	0.20		-0.27	0.21	
Number of people can ask to borrow \$100	0.01	0.02		0.01	0.02	
Migration-related indicators						
Female Nationality (Colombian=1; Ecuadorian=0)	-0.37	0.24		-0.38	0.24	
Male Nationality (Colombian=1; Ecuadorian=0)	0.56	0.22	*	0.56	0.22	*
Moved to neighborhood in last 20 years	0.83	0.22	***	0.93	0.21	*
Neighborhood						
Social Disorganization	0.87	0.97				
Community Adversity	0.27	0.61		0.29	0.64	
Community Wealth				-0.66	0.72	
Percent of Female Headed Households				1.20	0.85	
Percent of Renters				1.09	1.01	
Residential Instability				-0.10	0.40	
Social Cohesion <sup>6</sup>	-0.31	0.38				
Social Support	0.08	0.08		0.08	0.07	
Trust in Individuals				-1.00	0.91	
Trust in Institutions				-1.38	0.78	
Experiences of Discrimination				-1.17	0.87	
Civic Engagement				1.10	0.83	

# APPENDIX C. ATTRITION ANALYSIS

\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

S.E. Standard Error. Standard errors robust to non-normality and non-independence of observations

	Coefficient	S.E.
Emotional IPV	0.20	0.18
Physical and/or Sexual IPV	0.20	0.25
Individual		
Female age (years)	-0.02	0.01 *
Female educational achievement (secondary or more=1; Less than secondary=0)	0.19	0.24
Female labor force participation	0.24	0.17
Female-owned assets (value)	0.00	0.00
Partner/Household		
Household wealth	-0.09	0.08
Food consumption score	0.00	0.00
Male labor force participation	-0.73	0.33
Relational		
Age Difference (gap in years)	0.00	0.01
Education Difference (Male has higher edu=1; Female has equal or more=0)	0.00	0.26
Earning Difference (Female earns equal or more=1; Male earns more=0)	0.00	0.22
Percent of female -owned value of assets	0.21	0.24
Percent of female household decision-making	0.48	0.42
Neighborhood		
Province (Sucumbios=0; Carchi=1)	-0.44	0.29
Neighborhood percent of women with secondary education or higher	-0.02	0.90
Neighborhood percent of women participating in labor force	-0.03	0.95
Neighborhood average of percent of household assets owned by women	1.37	1.17
Neighborhood percent of women who earn the same or more than their partners	0.83	0.75
Neighborhood average female household decision-making	-0.77	1.77

Aim 2 attrition regression analysis of key indicators at time 1

\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

S.E. Standard Error. Standard errors robust to non-normality and non-independence of observations

# REFERENCES

1. García-Moreno C, Pallitto C, Devries K, Stöckl H, Watts C, Abrahams N. Global and Regional Estimates of Violence against Women: Prevalence and Health Effects of Intimate Partner Violence and Non-Partner Sexual Violence. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.

2. Ojeda G, Ordonez M, Ochoa LH. Colombia Encuesta Nacional de Demografía y Salud 2010. Bogotá, Colombia: Profamilia, 2011.

3. Roldos MI, Corso P. The Economic Burden of Intimate Partner Violence in Ecuador: Setting the Agenda for Future Research and Violence Prevention Policies. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2013;14(4):347-53.

4. Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Censos (INEC). Encuesta Nacional de Relaciones Familiares y Violencia de Genero Contra las Mujeres, Ecuador (National Survey of Family Dynamics and Gender Violence against Women, Ecuador). 2011. Available from: http://anda.inec.gob.ec/anda/index.php/catalog/94.

5. Devries K, Watts C, Yoshihama M, Kiss L, Schraiber LB, Deyessa N, Heise L, Durand J, Mbwambo J, Jansen H. Violence against Women is Strongly Associated with Suicide Attempts: Evidence from the WHO Multi-Country Study on Women's Health and Domestic Violence against Women. Social Science and Medicine. 2011;73(1):79-86.

6. World Health Organization/London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Preventing Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence against Women: Taking Action and Generating Evidence. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2010.

7. Fisher C. Changed and Changing Gender and Family Roles and Domestic Violence in African Refugee Background Communities Post-Settlement in Perth, Australia. Violence Against Women. 2013;19(7):833-47.

8. Heise LL. Violence against Women: An Integrated, Ecological Framework. Violence Against Women. 1998;4(3):262-90.

9. Diez Roux AV, Mair C. Neighborhoods and Health. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2010;1186(1):125-45.

10. Beyer K, Wallis AB, Hamberger LK. Neighborhood Environment and Intimate Partner Violence: A Systematic Review. Trauma Violence Abuse. 2015;16(1):16-47.

11. O'Campo P, Gielen AC, Faden RR, Xue X, Kass N, Wang M-C. Violence by Male Partners against Women during the Childbearing Year: A Contextual Analysis. American Journal of Public Health. 1995;85(8):1092-7.

12. Benson ML, Fox GL, DeMaris A, Van Wyk J. Neighborhood Disadvantage, Individual Economic Distress and Violence against Women in Intimate Relationships. Journal of Quantitative Criminology. 2003;19(3):207-35.

13. Stueve A, O'Donnell L. Urban Young Women's Experiences of Discrimination and Community Violence and Intimate Partner Violence. Journal of Urban Health. 2008;85(3):386-401.

14. VanderEnde KE, Yount KM, Dynes MM, Sibley LM. Community-Level Correlates of Intimate Partner Violence against Women Globally: A Systematic Review. Social Science and Medicine. 2012;75(7):1143-55.

15. Kirst M, Lazgare LP, Zhang YJ, O'Campo P. The Effects of Social Capital and Neighborhood Characteristics on Intimate Partner Violence: A Consideration of Social Resources and Risks. American Journal of Community Psychology. 2015;55(3-4):314-25.

16. McQuestion MJ. Endogenous Social Effects on Intimate Partner Violence in Colombia. Social Science Research. 2003;32(2):335-45.

17. Heise L. What Works to Prevent Partner Violence? An Evidence Overview. Working Paper. London: STRIVE Research Consortium, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2011.

18. UN High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). Colombia Situation Update. December 2016. Available from: http://www.refworld.org/docid/58627cd24.html

19. US Central Intelligence Agency. The World Factbook: Colombia. 2018. Available from: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/co.html.

20. UNHCR. Population Statistics Reference Database. 2017.

21. UNHCR. The Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights' Compilation Report Universal Periodic Review: 3rd Cycle, 27th Session: Ecuador. 2016.

22. Shedlin MG, Decena CU, Noboa H, Betancourt Ó. Sending-Country Violence and Receiving-Country Discrimination: Effects on the Health of Colombian Refugees in Ecuador. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health. 2014;16(1):119-24.

23. UN Migration. Migration Trends in the Americas: Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela. Buenos Aires: IOM Regional Office for South America, 2018.

24. Annan J, Brier M. The Risk of Return: Intimate Partner Violence in Northern Uganda's Armed Conflict. Social Science and Medicine. 2010;70(1):152-9.

25. Clark CJ, Everson-Rose SA, Suglia SF, Btoush R, Alonso A, Haj-Yahia MM. Association between Exposure to Political Violence and Intimate-Partner Violence in the Occupied Palestinian Territory: A Cross-Sectional Study. Lancet. 2010;375(9711):310-6.

26. Gupta J, Acevedo-Garcia D, Hemenway D, Decker MR, Raj A, Silverman JG. Premigration Exposure to Political Violence and Perpetration of Intimate Partner Violence among Immigrant Men in Boston. American Journal of Public Health. 2009;99(3):462-9.

27. Hynes ME, Sterk CE, Hennink M, Patel S, DePadilla L, Yount KM. Exploring Gender Norms, Agency and Intimate Partner Violence among Displaced Colombian Women: A Qualitative Assessment. Global Public Health. 2016;11(1-2):17-33.

28. Raj A, Silverman J. Violence against Immigrant Women: The Roles of Culture, Context, and Legal Immigrant Status on Intimate Partner Violence. Violence Against Women. 2002;8(3):367-98.

29. Heise L, Kotsadam A. Cross-National and Multilevel Correlates of Partner Violence: An Analysis of Data from Population-Based Surveys. Lancet Global Health. 2015;3(6):e332-40.

30. Browning CR. The Span of Collective Efficacy: Extending Social Disorganization Theory to Partner Violence. Journal of Marriage and Family. 2002;64(4):833-50.

31. Dekeseredy WS, Alvi S, Tomaszewski EA. Perceived Collective Efficacy and Women's Victimization in Public Housing. Criminal Justice. 2003;3(1):5-27.

32. Pronyk PM, Harpham T, Busza J, Phetla G, Morison LA, Hargreaves JR, Kim JC, Watts CH, Porter JD. Can Social Capital be Intentionally Generated? A Randomized Trial from Rural South Africa. Social Science and Medicine. 2008;67(10):1559-70.

33. Valli E, Peterman A, Hidrobo M. Economic Transfers and Social Cohesion in a Refugee-Hosting Setting UNICEF Office of Research 2018. Available from: https://www.unicefirc.org/publications/pdf/Valli%20et%20al%20for%20WEB.pdf.

34. ABColombia. Colombia: Women, Conflict-Related Sexual Violence and the Peace Process. London: ABColombia, 2013.

35. Gallardo L, Nopo H. Ethnic and Gender Wage Gaps in Ecuador. Washington, D.C: Inter-American Development Bank 2009.

36. Political Database of the Americas. Ecuador: Ley Contra la Violencia a la Mujer y a la Familia. Georgetown University. Available from: http://pdba.georgetown.edu/Security/citizensecurity/ecuador/leyes/leyviolenciamujer.pdf. 37. Zurita YQ, Moncayo JR, Slagado JS, Bolanos JLP, Zambrano GC, Lerrea M. C, Mendoza C. La Violencia de Género Contra las Mujeres en el Ecuador: Análisis de los Resultados de la Encuesta Nacional sobre Relaciones Familiares y Violencia de Género Contra las Mujeres Quito: Información Estratégica y Generación de Conocimientos, 2014.

38. Departamento Administrativo Nacional de Estadística (CO). Mercado Laboral por Sexo. Bogotá: Gran Encuesta Integrada de Hogares., 2017. Available from: https://www.dane.gov.co/index.php/estadisticas-por-tema/mercado-laboral/segun-sexo.

39. Gender Data Portal: Ecuador [Internet]. The World Bank. 2017. Available from: http://datatopics.worldbank.org/gender/country/ecuador.

40. Gender Data Portal: Colombia [Internet]. The World Bank. 2017. Available from: http://databank.worldbank.org/.

41. Bell V, Mendez F, Martinez M, Palma P, Bosch M. Characteristics of the Colombian Armed Conflict and the Mental Health of Civilians Living in Active Conflict Zones. Conflict & Health. 2012;6.

42. Oduro AD, Deere CD, Catanzarite ZB. Women's Wealth and Intimate Partner Violence: Insights from Ecuador and Ghana. Feminist Economics. 2015;21(2):1-29.

43. Grabe S. Promoting Gender Equality: The Role of Ideology, Power, and Control in the Link between Land Ownership and Violence in Nicaragua. Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy. 2010;10:146-70.

44. Fleming PJ, McCleary-Sills J, Morton M, Levtov R, Heilman B, Barker G. Risk Factors for Men's Lifetime Perpetration of Physical Violence against Intimate Partners: Results from the International Men and Gender Equality Survey (IMAGES) in Eight Countries. PloS One. 2015;10(3).

45. Hunnicutt G. Varieties of Patriarchy and Violence against Women: Resurrecting "Patriarchy" as a Theoretical Tool. Violence Against Women. 2009;15(5):553-73.

46. Peterman A, Pereira A, Bleck J, Palermo TM, Yount KM. Women's Individual Asset Ownership and Experience of Intimate Partner Violence: Evidence from 28 International Surveys. American Journal of Public Health. 2017;107(5):747-55.

47. Hindin MJ, Kishor S, Ansara DL. Intimate Partner Violence among Couples in 10 DHS Countries: Predictors and Health Outcomes. Calverton, MD: Macro International Inc; 2008.

48. Flake DF. Individual, Family, and Community Risk Markers for Domestic Violence in Peru. Violence Against Women. 2005;11(3):353-73.
49. Manski CF. Identification Problems in the Social Sciences. Sociological Methodology. 1993:1-56.

50. Hidrobo M, Hoddinott J, Peterman A, Margolies A, Moreira V. Impact Evaluation of Cash, Food Vouchers, and Food Transfers among Colombian Refugees and Poor Ecuadorians in Carchi and Sucumbíos: Final Report. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute; 2012.

51. Hidrobo M, Hoddinott J, Peterman A, Margolies A, Moreira V. Cash, Food, or Vouchers? Evidence from a Randomized Experiment in Northern Ecuador. Journal of Development Economics. 2014;107.

52. UNHCR. Figures at a Glance. 2019. Available from: https://www.unhcr.org/figures-at-a-glance.html.

53. Wirtz AL, Pham K, Glass N, Loochkartt S, Kidane T, Cuspoca D, Rubenstein LS, Singh S, Vu A. Gender-Based Violence in Conflict and Displacement: Qualitative Findings from Displaced Women in Colombia. Conflict and Health. 2014;8:10.

54. UN Women. Global Norms and Standards: Ending Violence against Women: United Nations. Available from: http://www.unwomen.org/en/what-we-do/ending-violence-against-women/global-norms-and-standards.

55. Ellsberg M. Violence against Women and the Millennium Development Goals: Facilitating Women's Access to Support. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics. 2006;94(3):325-32.

56. World Health Organization. Addressing Violence against Women and Achieving the Millennium Development Goals. 2005.

57. Palermo T, Bleck J, Peterman A. Tip of the Iceberg: Reporting and Gender-Based Violence in Developing Countries. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2013;179.

58. World Health Organization. Preventing Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence against Women: Taking Action and Generating Evidence: World Health Organization; 2010.

59. US Central Intelligence Agency. The World Factbook: Ecuador. 2018. Available from: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/ec.html.

60. Convention on Biological Diversity. Ecuador: Country Profile (Draft). Available from: https://www.cbd.int/countries/profile/default.shtml?country=ec#facts.

61. Convention on Biological Diversity. Colombia - Country Profile. Available from: https://www.cbd.int/countries/profile/default.shtml?country=co.

62. Wood CH, Gibson CL, Ribeiro L, Hamsho-Diaz P. Crime Victimization in Latin America and Intentions to Migrate to the United States. International Migration Review. 2010;44(1):3-24.

63. UN Office on Drugs and Crime. International Homicide Statistics Database: Intentional Homicides (Per 100,000 People). 2017. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/VC.IHR.PSRC.P5.

64. Meertens D. Forced Displacement and Women's Security in Colombia. Disasters. 2010;34(s2).

65. Edwards A. Geneva: UN High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). 2016. Available from: http://www.unhcr.org/en-us/news/latest/2016/7/55df0e556/unhcr-viewpoint-refugee-migrant-right.html.

66. González GG, Schiavon JA, Maldonado G. The Americas and the World 2010-2011. Public Opinion and Foreign Policy in Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Mexico, and Peru. 2011.

67. United States Department of State Bureau of Democracy Human Rights and Labor. Ecuador Human Rights Report 2013. Available from: https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/220651.pdf.

68. Leutert S. Dispatches: Ecuador's Invisible Refugee Population. Americas Quarterly. 2012.

69. UNHCR. Venezuela Situation: Responding to the Needs of People Displaced from Venezuela. Geneva: UN Refugee Agency, 2018.

70. IOM. Emergency Plan for Refugees and Migrants from Venezuela Launched. Internatioanl Organization for Migration; 2018.

71. Response for Venezuelans. Regional Refugee and Migrant Response Plan for Refugees and Migrants from Venezuela. January - December 2019. Internatioanl Organization for Migration.

72. Friedemann-Sánchez G, Grieve M. General Background on Colombian Laws on Violence against Women, Orders of Protection, and Shelters. 2017. Available from: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Women/SR/Shelters/FriedemannSanchezGrieve.pdf.

73. Fiske EB. World Atlas of Gender Equality in Education: UNESCO; 2012.

74. Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC). Annual Report 2013-2014: Confronting Violence against Women in Latin America and the Caribbean. Santiago, Chile: 2014. Available from: http://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/37271/4/S1500498\_en.pdf.

75. Stark L, Ager A. A Systematic Review of Prevalence Studies of Gender-Based Violence in Complex Emergencies. Trauma Violence Abuse. 2011;12.

76. Stark L, Warner A, Lehmann H, Boothby N, Ager A. Measuring the Incidence and Reporting of Violence against Women and Girls in Liberia Using the 'Neighborhood Method'. Conflict and Health. 2013;7(1):20.

77. Peterman A, Palermo T, Bredenkamp C. Estimates and Determinants of Sexual Violence against Women in the Democratic Republic of Congo. American Journal of Public Health. 2011;101(6):1060-7.

78. Tlapek SM. Women's Status and Intimate Partner Violence in the Democratic Republic of Congo. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2015;30(14):2526-40.

79. Scott J, Modest AM, Hacker MR, Cornish S, Spencer D, Murphy M, Parmar P. An Assessment of Gender Inequitable Norms and Gender-Based Violence in South Sudan: A Community-Based Participatory Research Approach. Conflict and Health. 2013;7(1):4.

80. Ahmed A, El Mardi A. A Study of Domestic Violence among Women Attending a Medical Centre in Sudan. Journal of Eastern Mediterrean Health. 2005;11(1-2):164-74.

81. Parmar P, Agrawal P, Greenough PG, Goyal R, Kayden S. Sexual Violence among Host and Refugee Population in Djohong District, Eastern Cameroon. Global Public Health. 2012;7(9):974-94.

82. Khawaja M, Barazi R. Prevalence of Wife Beating in Jordanian Refugee Camps: Reports by Men and Women. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2005;59(10):840-1.

83. Calderón V, Gáfaro M, Ibáñez AM. Forced Migration, Female Labor Force Participation, and Intra-Household Bargaining: Does Conflict Empower Women? Colombia: Centro de Estudios sobre Desarrollo Económico, Universidad de los Andes, 2011.

84. Londoño A, Romero P, Casas G. The Association between Armed Conflict, Violence and Mental Health: A Cross Sectional Study Comparing Two Populations in Cundinamarca Department, Colombia. Conflict and Health. 2012;6:12.

85. Farias PJ. Emotional Distress and Its Socio-Political Correlates in Salvadoran Refugees: Analysis of a Clinical Sample. Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry. 1991;15(2):167-92.

86. Jenkins JH. The State Construction of Affect: Political Ethos and Mental Health among Salvadoran Refugees. Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry. 1991;15(2):139-65.

87. Gagnon A, Tuck J. A Systematic Review of Questionnaires Measuring the Health of Resettling Refugee Women. Health Care for Women International. 2004;25(2):111-49.

88. Guruge S, Shirpak KR, Hyman I, Zanchetta M, Gastaldo D, Sidani S. A Meta-Synthesis of Post-Migration Changes in Marital Relationships in Canada. Canadian Journal of Public Health/Revue Canadienne de Sante'e Publique. 2010:327-31. 89. Menjívar C, Salcido O. Immigrant Women and Domestic Violence: Common Experiences in Different Countries. Gender & Society. 2002;16(6):898-920.

90. Friedemann-Sánchez G, Lovatón R. Intimate Partner Violence in Colombia: Who is at Risk? Social Forces. 2012;91(2):663-88.

91. Rousseau C, Drapeau A, Corin E. The Influence of Culture and Context on the Pre-and Post-Migration Experience of School-Aged Refugees from Central America and Southeast Asia in Canada. Social Science and Medicine. 1997;44(8):1115-27.

92. Pinchevsky GM, Wright EM. The Impact of Neighborhoods on Intimate Partner Violence and Victimization. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse. 2012;13(2):112-32.

93. Mears DP, Carlson MJ, Holden GW, Harris SD. Reducing Domestic Violence Revictimization: The Effects of Individual and Contextual Factors and Type of Legal Intervention. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2001;16(12):1260-83.

94. Emery CR, Jolley JM, Wu S. Desistance from Intimate Partner Violence: The Role of Legal Cynicism, Collective Efficacy, and Social Disorganization in Chicago Neighborhoods. American Journal of Community Psychology. 2011;48(3-4):373-83.

95. Obasaju MA, Palin FL, Jacobs C, Anderson P, Kaslow NJ. Won't You Be My Neighbor?: Using an Ecological Approach to Examine the Impact of Community on Revictimization. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2009;24(1):38-53.

96. Jackson AL. The Combined Effect of Women's Neighborhood Resources and Collective Efficacy on IPV. Journal of Marriage and Family. 2016;78(4):890-907.

97. Leites M, Pereira G, Rius A, Salas G, Vigorito A. Protocol: The Effect of Cash Transfers on Social Solidarity: A Systematic Review. 2017.

98. International Organization for Migration (IOM) Migration Health Division. Health Care and Psychosocial Support for Former Combatants and Families. Geneva: 2015. Available from: https://www.iom.int/sites/default/files/our\_work/DMM/Migration-Health/MP\_infosheets/MHD%20H3%20DDR%20%20FINAL%20version\_19Aug15.pdf.

99. Behrman JA, Peterman A, Palermo T. Does Keeping Adolescent Girls in School Protect against Sexual Violence? Quasi-Experimental Evidence from East and Southern Africa. Journal of Adolescent Health. 2017;60(2):184-90.

100. Vyas S, Watts C. How Does Economic Empowerment Affect Women's Risk of Intimate Partner Violence in Low and Middle Income Countries? A Systematic Review of Published Evidence. Journal of International Development. 2009;21(5):577-602.

101. Abramsky T, Watts C, Garcia-Moreno C, Devries K, Kiss L, Ellsberg M, Jansen H, Heise L. What Factors Are Associated with Recent Intimate Partner Violence? Findings from the WHO Multi-Country Study on Women's Health and Domestic Violence. BMC Public Health. 2011;11(1):109.

102. Castro R, Casique I, Brindis CD. Empowerment and Physical Violence Throughout Women's Reproductive Life in Mexico. Violence Against Women. 2008;14(6):655-77.

103. Hidrobo M, Fernald L. Cash Transfers and Domestic Violence. Journal of Health Economics. 2013;32(1):304-19.

104. Ackerson LK, Subramanian SV. State Gender Inequality, Socioeconomic Status and Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) in India: A Multilevel Analysis. Australian Journal of Social Issues. 2008;43(1):81-102.

105. Gage AJ. Women's Experience of Intimate Partner Violence in Haiti. Social Science and Medicine. 2005;61(2):343-64.

106. Volpe EM, Hardie TL, Cerulli C, Sommers MS, Morrison-Beedy D. Age Got to Do with It? Partner Age Difference, Power, Intimate Partner Violence, and Sexual Risk in Urban Adolescents. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2013;28(10):2068-87.

107. Oudekerk BA, Guarnera LA, Reppucci ND. Older Opposite-Sex Romantic Partners, Sexual Risk, and Victimization in Adolescence. Child Abuse and Neglect. 2014;38(7):1238-48.

108. Masho SW, Chambers GJ, Wallenborn JT, Ferrance JL. Associations of Partner Age Gap at Sexual Debut with Teenage Parenthood and Lifetime Number of Partners. Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health. 2017;49(2):77-83.

109. Bell KM, Naugle AE. Intimate Partner Violence Theoretical Considerations: Moving Towards a Contextual Framework. Clinical Psychology Review. 2008;28(7):1096-107.

110. Buller AM, Hidrobo M, Peterman A, Heise L. The Way to a Man's Heart is through his Stomach?: A Mixed Methods Study on Causal Mechanisms through Which Cash and in-Kind Food Transfers Decreased Intimate Partner Violence. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:488.

111. Bott S, Alessandra Guedes, Mary M. Goodwin, and Jennifer Adams Mendoza. Violence against Women in Latin America and the Caribbean: A Comparative Analysis of Population-Based Data from 12 Countries. Washington, DC: Pan American Health Organization, 2012.

112. Buller AM, Peterman A, Ranganathan M, Bleile A, Hidrobo M, Heise L. A Mixed-Method Review of Cash Transfers and Intimate Partner Violence in Low and Middle-Income Countries. The World Bank Research Observer. 2018;33(2):218-258.

113. Pronyk PM, Hargreaves, J. R., Kim, J. C., Morison, L. A., Phetla, G., Watts, C., et al. Effect of a Structural Intervention for the Prevention of Intimate-Partner Violence and HIV in Rural South Africa: A Cluster Randomised Trial. Lancet. 2006;368:1973-83.

114. Sallis JF, Owen, N., & Fisher, E.B. Ecological Models of Health Behavior. In: K. Glanz BR, & K. Viswanath, editor. Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice. California: Jossey-Bass; 2008. p. 465-82.

115. Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K. Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice: John Wiley & Sons; 2008.

116. Belsky J. Child Maltreatment: An Ecological Integration. American Psychologist. 1980;35(4):320.

117. Fox GL, Benson ML. Household and Neighborhood Contexts of Intimate Partner Violence. Public Health Reports. 2006;121(4):419-27.

118. Burke NJ, Joseph G, Pasick RJ, Barker JC. Theorizing Social Context: Rethinking Behavioral Theory. Health Education and Behavior. 2009;36(5 Suppl):55s-70s.

119. Shaw CR, McKay HD. Juvenile Delinquency and Urban Areas. Chicago, Ill: The University of Chicago Press; 1942.

120. Shaw CR, McKay HD. Juvenile Delinquency and Urban Areas. Revised Edition. Chicago, III: The University of Chicago Press; 1969.

121. Sampson RJ, Groves WB. Community Structure and Crime: Testing Social-Disorganization Theory. American Journal of Sociology. 1989;94(4):774-802.

122. Krieger N. Methods for the Scientific Study of Discrimination and Health. American Journal of Public Health. 2012;102(5):936-44.

123. Krieger N, Chen JT, Waterman PD, Hartman C, Stoddard AM, Quinn MM, Sorensen G, Barbeau EM. The Inverse Hazard Law: Blood Pressure, Sexual Harassment, Racial Discrimination, Workplace Abuse and Occupational Exposures in Us Low-Income Black, White and Latino Workers. Social Science and Medicine. 2008;67(12):1970-81.

124. Bandura A. Social Learning Theory of Aggression. Journal of Communication. 1978;28(3):12-29.

125. Miller KE, Rasmussen A. War Exposure, Daily Stressors, and Mental Health in Conflict and Post-Conflict Settings: Bridging the Divide between Trauma-Focused and Psychosocial Frameworks. Social Science and Medicine. 2010;70(1):7-16. 126. Sampson RJ, Morenoff JD, Earls F. Beyond Social Capital: Spatial Dynamics of Collective Efficacy for Children. American Sociological Review. 1999:633-60.

127. Yamanis TJ, Maman S, Mbwambo JK, Earp JA, Kajula LJ. Social Venues that Protect against and Promote HIV Risk for Young Men in Dar Es Salaam, Tanzania. Social Science and Medicine. 2010;71(9):1601-9.

128. Bernard P, Charafeddine R, Frohlich KL, Daniel M, Kestens Y, Potvin L. Health Inequalities and Place: A Theoretical Conception of Neighbourhood. Social Science and Medicine. 2007;65(9):1839-52.

129. Bruhn J. The Concept of Social Cohesion. The Group Effect: Springer; 2009. p. 31-48.

130. Aiyer SM, Zimmerman MA, Morrel-Samuels S, Reischl TM. From Broken Windows to Busy Streets: A Community Empowerment Perspective. Health Education and Behavior. 2015;42(2):137-47.

131. Edwards KM, Mattingly MJ, Dixon KJ, Banyard VL. Community Matters: Intimate Partner Violence among Rural Young Adults. American Journal of Community Psychology. 2014;53(1-2):198-207.

132. Domestic Abuse Intervention Programs (DAIP). Power and Control Wheel [cited 2018 January 26]. Available from: https://www.theduluthmodel.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/PowerandControl.pdf.

133. Gramsci A. Chapter 4: The Intellectuals. In: Hier S, editor. Contemporary Sociological Thought. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Scholars' Press, Inc.; 2005.

134. Johnson AG. The Gender Knot: Unraveling our Patriarchal Legacy. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press; 2005.

135. Akita E. Hegemony, Patriarchy and Human Rights: The Representation of Ghanaian Women in Politics: Ohio University; 2010.

136. Young IM. Five Faces of Oppression. Geographic thought: A praxis perspective. 2009:55-71.

137. Bowleg L. The Problem with the Phrase Women and Minorities: Intersectionality—an Important Theoretical Framework for Public Health. American Journal of Public Health. 2012;102(7):1267-73.

138. Crenshaw K. Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. Stanford Law Review. 1991:1241-99.

139. Pence E, Paymar M. Education Groups for Men Who Batter: The Duluth Model. NY: Springer Publishing Company; 1993.

140. Hidrobo M, Peterman A, Heise L. The Effect of Cash, Vouchers and Food Transfers on Intimate Partner Violence: Evidence from a Randomized Experiment in Northern Ecuador. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics. 2016;8(3):284-303.

141. Straus MA. Measuring Intrafamily Conflict and Violence: The Conflict Tactics (CTS) Scales. Journal of Marriage and Family. 1979;41(1):75-88.

142. Ellsberg MC, Heise L. Researching Violence against Women: A Practical Guide for Researchers and Activists. World Health Organization, 2005.

143. Enders CK, Tofighi D. Centering Predictor Variables in Cross-Sectional Multilevel Models: A New Look at an Old Issue. Psychological Methods. 2007;12(2):121.

144. Snijders TAB, Bosker RJ. Multilevel Analysis: An Introduction to Basic and Advanced Multilevel Modeling, Second Edition: SAGE Publications; 2011.

145. Rubin DB. Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys: John Wiley & Sons; 2004.

146. Asparouhov T, & Muthén, B. . Multiple Imputation with Mplus. 2010. Available from: http://www.statmodel.com/download/Imputations7.pdf.

147. Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Mplus User's Guide. Eighth Edition ed. Muthén LK, Muthén BO, editors. Los Angeles, CA1998-2017.

148. Cabrera-Nguyen P. Author Guidelines for Reporting Scale Development and Validation Results in the Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research. Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research. 2010;1(2):99-103.

149. Bauer DJ, Hussong AM. Psychometric Approaches for Developing Commensurate Measures across Independent Studies: Traditional and New Models. Psychological Methods. 2009;14(2):101-25.

150. Pallitto CC, O'Campo P. Community Level Effects of Gender Inequality on Intimate Partner Violence and Unintended Pregnancy in Colombia: Testing the Feminist Perspective. Social Science and Medicine. 2005;60(10):2205-16.

151. Fitzmaurice G, Davidian M, Verbeke G, Molenberghs G. Longitudinal Data Analysis: CRC press; 2008.

152. UNHCR. Sexual and Gender-Based Violence against Refugees, Returnees, and Internally Displaced Persons. Geneva: UNHCR; 2003.

153. Idemudia ES, Williams JK, Wyatt GE. Migration Challenges among Zimbabwean Refugees before, During and Post Arrival in South Africa. Journal of Injury and Violence Research. 2013;5(1):17.

154. Fabrigar LR, Wegener DT, MacCallum RC, Strahan EJ. Evaluating the Use of Exploratory Factor Analysis in Psychological Research. Psychological Methods. 1999;4(3):272.

155. Kim ES, Dedrick RF, Cao C, Ferron JM. Multilevel Factor Analysis: Reporting Guidelines and a Review of Reporting Practices. Multivariate Behavioral Research. 2016;51(6):881-98.

156. Leddy AM, Lippman SA, Neilands TB, Twine R, Ahern J, Gomez-Olive FX, DeLong SM, MacPhail C, Kahn K, Pettifor AE. Community Collective Efficacy Is Associated with Reduced Physical Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) Incidence in the Rural Province of Mpumalanga, South Africa: Findings from HPTN 068. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2019;73(2):176-81.

157. National Research Council. Civic Engagement and Social Cohesion: Measuring Dimensions of Social Capital to Inform Policy: National Academies Press; 2014.

158. Colorado-Yohar S, Tormo MJ, Salmerón D, Dios S, Ballesta M, Navarro C. Violence Reported by the Immigrant Population Is High as Compared with the Native Population in Southeast Spain. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2012;27(16):3322-40.

159. Colorado-Yohar SM, Agudelo-Suárez AA, Huerta JM, Torres-Cantero AM. Intimate Partner Violence and Its Associated Factors in a Sample of Colombian Immigrant Population in Spain. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health. 2016;18(4):904-12.

160. Reed E, Silverman JG, Ickovics JR, Gupta J, Welles SL, Santana MC, Raj A. Experiences of Racial Discrimination & Relation to Violence Perpetration and Gang Involvement among a Sample of Urban African American Men. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health. 2010;12(3):319-26.

161. Napolitano F, Gualdieri L, Santagati G, Angelillo IF. Violence Experience among Immigrants and Refugees: A Cross-Sectional Study in Italy. Journal of BioMed Research International. 2018;2018.

162. Gilgen D, Salis Gross C, Maeusezahl D, Frey C, Tanner M, Weiss MG, Hatz C. Impact of Organized Violence on Illness Experience of Turkish/Kurdish and Bosnian Migrant Patients in Primary Care. Journal of Travel Medicine. 2002;9(5):236-43.

163. Hondius AJ, van Willigen LH, Kleijn WC, van der Ploeg HM. Health Problems among Latin-American and Middle-Eastern Refugees in the Netherlands: Relations with Violence Exposure and Ongoing Sociopsychological Strain. Journal of Traumatic Stress. 2000;13(4):619-34.

164. Shultz JM, Garfin DR, Espinel Z, Araya R, Oquendo MA, Wainberg ML, Chaskel R, Gaviria SL, Ordóñez AE, Espinola M. Internally Displaced "Victims of Armed Conflict" in Colombia: The Trajectory and Trauma Signature of Forced Migration. Current Psychiatry Reports. 2014;16(10):475.

165. Montgomery E. Long-Term Effects of Organized Violence on Young Middle Eastern Refugees' Mental Health. Social Science and Medicine. 2008;67(10):1596-603.

166. Bender M, Cook S, Kaslow N. Social Support as a Mediator of Revictimization of Low-Income African American Women. Journal of Violence and Victims. 2003;18(4):419.

167. Coker AL, Smith PH, Thompson MP, McKeown RE, Bethea L, Davis KE. Social Support Protects against the Negative Effects of Partner Violence on Mental Health. Journal of Women's Health. 2002;11(5):465-76.

168. Coker AL, Watkins KW, Smith PH, Brandt HM. Social Support Reduces the Impact of Partner Violence on Health: Application of Structural Equation Models. Journal of Preventive medicine. 2003;37(3):259-67.

169. Beeble ML, Bybee D, Sullivan CM, Adams AE. Main, Mediating, and Moderating Effects of Social Support on the Well-Being of Survivors of Intimate Partner Violence across 2 Years. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology. 2009;77(4):718-29.

170. Ibáñez AM, Moya A. How Does Forced Displacement Affect Household's Welfare? Welfare Analysis and Implications in Reception Sites. Universidad de los Andes, 2006. Documento Cede 2006-26.

171. Gómez Builes GM, Astaiza Arias GM, Minayo MCdS. Migrations Forced by Violence: The Colombian Case. Ciencia & Salude Coletiva. 2008;13(5):1649-60.

172. Vinck P, Pham PN. Association of Exposure to Intimate-Partner Physical Violence and Potentially Traumatic War-Related Events with Mental Health in Liberia. Social Science and Medicine. 2013;77:41-9.

173. Ranganathan M, Knight L, Abramsky T, Muvhango L, Ngwato TP, Mbobelatsi M, Ferrari G, Watts C, Stöckl H. Associations between Women's Economic and Social Empowerment and Intimate Partner Violence: Findings from a Microfinance Plus Programme in Rural North-West Province, South Africa. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2019.

174. Yoshihama M, Horrocks J, Kamano S. The Role of Emotional Abuse in Intimate Partner Violence and Health among Women in Yokohama, Japan. American Journal of Public Health. 2009;99(4):647-53.

175. KROC Institute for International Peace Studies. Report on the Status of Implementation of the Colombia Final Accord. University of Notre Dame, 2018. Available from: https://kroc.nd.edu/assets/258961/171127\_english\_version\_of\_kroc\_institute\_report\_executive\_summary .pdf.

176. Koenig MA, Ahmed S, Hossain MB, Mozumder AKA. Women's Status and Domestic Violence in Rural Bangladesh: Individual-and Community-Level Effects. Demography. 2003;40(2):269-88.

177. Peterman A, Schwab B, Roy S, Hidrobo M, Gilligan D. Measuring Women's Decisionmaking: Indicator Choice and Survey Design Experiments from Cash and Food Transfer Evaluations in Ecuador, Uganda and Yemen. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute, 2015.

178. Dworkin SL, Treves-Kagan S, Lippman SA. Gender-Transformative Interventions to Reduce HIV Risks and Violence with Heterosexually-Active Men: A Review of the Global Evidence. AIDS and Behavior. 2013;17(9):2845-63.

179. Stern E, Nyiratunga R. A Process Review of the Indashyikirwa Couples Curriculum to Prevent Intimate Partner Violence and Support Healthy, Equitable Relationships in Rwanda. Social Science. 2017;6(2):63.

180. Pettifor A, Lippman SA, Gottert A, Suchindran CM, Selin A, Peacock D, Maman S, Rebombo D, Twine R, Gómez-Olivé FX, Tollman S, Kahn K, MacPhail C. Community Mobilization to Modify Harmful Gender Norms and Reduce HIV Risk: Results from a Community Cluster Randomized Trial in South Africa. Journal of the International AIDS Society. 2018;21(7):e25134.

181. Treves-Kagan S, Maman S, Khoza N, MacPhail C, Peacock D, Twine R, Kahn K, Lippman S, Pettifor A. Changing in Public: The Intersection of Individual-Level and Community-Level Factors to Reduce Violence in Rural South Africa. Culture, Health & Sexuality. Under Review.

182. Selin AM. The Impact of a Conditional Cash Transfer Study (HPTN 068) and a Community Mobilisation Intervention on Experiences of Intimate Partner Violence: Findings from Rural Mpumalanga, South Africa. Sexual Violence Research Forum; Stellenbosch, South Africa. 2015.

183. Yakubovich AR, Stöckl H, Murray J, Melendez-Torres GJ, Steinert JI, Glavin CEY, Humphreys DK. Risk and Protective Factors for Intimate Partner Violence against Women: Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses of Prospective–Longitudinal Studies. American Journal of Public Health. 2018;108(7):e1-e11.

184. Wirtz AL, Pham K, Glass N, Loochkartt S, Kidane T, Cuspoca D, Rubenstein LS, Singh S, Vu A. Gender-Based Violence in Conflict and Displacement: Qualitative Findings from Displaced Women in Colombia. Conflict and Health. 2014;8(1):10.

185. Raj A, Silverman JG, Klugman J, Saggurti N, Donta B, Shakya HB. Longitudinal Analysis of the Impact of Economic Empowerment on Risk for Intimate Partner Violence among Married Women in Rural Maharashtra, India. Social Science and Medicine. 2018;196:197-203.

186. Anderberg D, Rainer H, Wadsworth J, Wilson T. Unemployment and Domestic Violence: Theory and Evidence. The Economic Journal. 2016;126(597):1947-79.

187. Krishnan S, Rocca CH, Hubbard AE, Subbiah K, Edmeades J, Padian NS. Do Changes in Spousal Employment Status Lead to Domestic Violence? Insights from a Prospective Study in Bangalore, India. Social Science and Medicine. 2010;70(1):136-43.

188. International Committee of the Red Cross. Colombia: Five Armed Conflicts – What's Happening? 2019 30 January 2019. Report No. Available from: https://www.icrc.org/en/document/colombia-five-armed-conflicts-whats-happening.

189. Gupta GR. Gender, Sexuality and HIV/AIDS: The What, the Why and the How. Canadian HIV AIDS Policy and Law Review. 2000;5(4):86-93.

190. Dworkin SL, Fleming PJ, Colvin CJ. The Promises and Limitations of Gender-Transformative Health Programming with Men: Critical Reflections from the Field. Culture, Health & Sexuality. 2015;17:128-43.

191. Gibbs A, Jewkes R, Sikweyiya Y, Willan S. Reconstructing Masculinity? A Qualitative Evaluation of the Stepping Stones and Creating Futures Interventions in Urban Informal Settlements in South Africa. Culture, Health & Sexuality. 2015;17(2):208-22.

192. Shields SA. Gender: An Intersectionality Perspective. Sex Roles. 2008;59(5-6):301-11.

193. Crenshaw K. Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. Stanford Law Review. 1991;43(6):1241-99.

194. Williams HA. Families in Refugee Camps. Human Organization. 1990;49(2):100-9.

195. Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, Sethi D, Butchart A, Mikton C, Jones L, Dunne MP. The Effect of Multiple Adverse Childhood Experiences on Health: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. The Lancet Public Health. 2017;2(8):e356-e66.

196. Chiang LF, Kress H, Sumner SA, Gleckel J, Kawemama P, Gordon RN. Violence against Children Surveys (VACS): Towards a Global Surveillance System. Injury Prevention. 2016;22(Suppl 1):i17-i22.

197. Treves-Kagan S, El Ayadi AM, Morris JL, Graham LM, Grignon JS, Ntswane L, Gilvydis JM, Barnhart S, Lippman SA. Sexual and Physical Violence in Childhood is Associated with Adult Intimate Partner Violence and Nonpartner Sexual Violence in a Representative Sample of Rural South African Men and Women. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. 2019.

198. Fonseka RW, Minnis AM, Gomez. Impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences on Intimate Partner Violence Perpetration among Sri Lankan Men. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(8):e0136321.

199. VanderEnde K, Mercy J, Shawa M, Kalanda M, Hamela J, Maksud N, Ross B, Gupta S, Wadonda-Kabondo N, Hillis S. Violent Experiences in Childhood are Associated with Men's Perpetration of Intimate Partner Violence as a Young Adult: A Multistage Cluster Survey in Malawi. Annals of Epidemiology. 2016; 26(10):723-728.

200. Sumner SA, Mercy JA, Buluma R, Mwangi MW, Marcelin LH, Lea V, Brookmeyer K, Kress H, Hillis SD. Childhood Sexual Violence against Boys: A Study in 3 Countries. Pediatrics. 2016;137(5):e20153386.

201. Hillis S, Mercy J, Amobi A, Kress H. Global Prevalence of Past-Year Violence against Children: A Systematic Review and Minimum Estimates. Pediatrics. 2016;137(3):1-13.

202. Demographic Health Survey. Wealth Index Construction. USAID. Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/topics/wealth-index/Wealth-Index-Construction.cfm.

203. World Food Programme. Technical Guidance Sheet: Food Consumption Analysis. Rome: United Nations World Food Programme, 2008. Available from: <u>http://documents.wfp.org/</u> stellent/groups/public/documents/manual\_guide\_proced/wfp197216.pdf.

204. Behrman JA, Karelina Z, Peterman A, Roy S, Goh A. A Toolkit on Collecting Gender and Assets Data in Qualitative and Quantitative Program Evaluations. Washington, D.C.: IFPRI, 2014.